43336 National Library **Bibliothèque** nationale du Canada of Canada Canadian Theses Division Division des thèses canadiennes Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 ERMISSION TO MICROFILM - A Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier Full Name of Author - Nom, complet de l'auteur BALL, RONALD ORVILLE. Date of Birth - Date de naissance Country of Birth - Lieu de naissance OCTOBER, 24, 1950Permanent Address — Résidence fixe CANADA BOX 542. VERMILION, ALBERTA TOB 4MO Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse THE EFFECTS OF FEED INTAKE, NUTRIENT DENSITY AND WEANING AGE ON THE PERFORMANCE, DIET DIL-ESTIBILITY AND INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF DIARRHEA IN YOUNG PILS. University - Université ALBERTA. Degree for which thesis was presented -- Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée  $MS_{C}$ Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade Name of Supervisor -- Nom du directeur de thèse 1979 DR. F.X. AHERNF L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film. the film. s ar share L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherautrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur. wise reproduced without the author's written permission. Signature Date Ronal Bal Octale 15, 1979

#### National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 —

# NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

# THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec » l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

# LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECUE

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE EFFECTS OF FEED INTAKE, NUTRIENT DENSITY AND WEANING AGE ON THE PERFORMANCE, DIET DIGESTIBILITY AND INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF DIARRHEA IN YOUNG PIGS



Ronald O. Ball

by

#### A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF Master of Science

IN

Animal Nutrition

Department of Animal Science

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall 1979

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled THE EFFECTS OF FEED INTAKE, NUTRIENT DENSITY AND WEANING AGE ON THE PERFORMANCE, EIET DIGESTIBILITY AND INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF DIARRHEA IN YOUNG PIGS submitted by Ronald O. Ball in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Animal Nutrition.

francis aherne Supervisor

#### ABSTRACT

Two experiments were conducted to study the effects of diet composition and restriction of feed intake on performance and the incidence and severity of diarrhea (scours) in young pigs.

In the first experiment a total of 72 pigs, weaned at 3 weeks of age, were fed either a simple or a semi-complex diet at 3 levels of feed intake: ad libitum, restricted intake by time exposed to the feed (time-limited) and restricted intake by weight of food fed (weight-limited).

Diet complexity did not significantly affect performance during the 14 day trial. Restricting feed intake significantly reduced gain (P<0.05) and gain:feed ratio (P<0.05). There were no performance differences between the 2 methods of feed restriction. There was significantly more severe diarrhea (P<0.01) when the semi-complex diet was fed. The weight-limited method of restricting intake significantly (P<0.05) reduced both incidence and severity of diarrhea. The greatest diarrhea values occurred for pigs fed by the time-limited method. Diarrhea reduced gain (P<0.05) and gain:feed ratio (P<0.05) by 30 to 40%. The mean number of days required to reach 90 kg liveweight was not

significantly affected by diet complexity, feeding method or diarrhea in the post-weaning period.

In the second experiment a total of 128 pigs were weaned at either 3 of 4 weeks of age, and fed a normal density (ND) or a high density (HD) diet for 4 weeks. Diets were fed either ad libitum or restricted to 85% of the kcals of digestible energy (DE) consumed per kg of pig fed the ND diet ad libitum. Thus all restricted-fed pigs received the same daily nutrient intake, but a lower volume of feed when fed the HD diet.

Significantly greater gains were observed for the 4-week-weaned pigs, the HD diet and ad libitum feeding.than for 3-week-weaned pigs, the ND diet and restricted feeding, respectively. The gain:feed ratio was significantly higher for the HD diet (P<0.005) and restricted feeding (P<0.05).

The HD diet and ad libitum feeding resulted in a higher incidence and more severe scouring than the ND diet and restricted feeding, respectively. The effect of weeks post-weaning was highly significant (P<0.0%1) for both incidence and severity of scours, being highest in week 1 and lowest in week 4.

Apparent digestibility values for gross energy, crude protein and ether extract were determined each week. There was no overall difference in digestibility values between 3and 4-week-weaned pigs. The HD diet had a significantly greater digestibility for protein (P<0.05) and ether extract (P<0.005), but not for energy. Restricting feed intake significantly increased digestibility of energy and ether extract, but not of protein. All digestibility values increased significantly with week post-weaning (P<0.005). The greatest improvement (19%) occurred for ether extract digestibility. Pigs had similar digestibility values at the same chronological age regardless of the age at weaning. By week 3 there was no difference in digestibility between ad libitum and restricted feeding.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank Dr. Roy T. Berg, Chairman of the Department of Animal Science and Dr. L.P. Milligan, former Chairman of the Department for placing the facilities of the department at his disposal.

I wish to thank Dr. F.X. Aherne, Associate Professor of Swine Nutrition for his advice, suggestions and encouragement during the course of my studies and experimental work.

Thanks are extended to Dr. R.T. Hardin, Mr. R. Weingardt and Mrs. Marion Peebles for their assistance with the statistical analyses and computation.

The excellent and considerable assistance of Ms. Pauline Hewitt during the data collection and laboratory analyses is gratefully acknowledged. The assistance of the staff of the Swine Unit, Edmonton Research Station, The University of Alberta is hereby acknowledged.

I would like to thank all the other staff members and fellow students who assisted during the data collection and analysis.

To my wife, Ruth, for her invaluable assistance with the typing and preparation of the text and her on-going encouragement and support goes my deepest appreciation.

▼ii

# Table of Contents

î

Chapter	Page
· · ·	
I.	GENERAL INTRODUCTION1
II:	EXPERIMENT I: EFFECT OF DIET COMPLEXITY AND FEED INTAKE ON PERFORMANCE AND SCOURING OF 3-WEEK-WEANED PIGS
	A. Objective9
- - -	B. Materials and Methods9
	Animals and Diets9
· · · · ·	Statistical Analysis13
	C. Results and Discussion15
	Effect of Diet Complexity on Performance15
	Effect of Feeding Method on Performance18
	Effect of Diet Complexity and Feeding Method on Scouring
	Effect of Scouring on Performance24
•	Effect of Diet Complexity, Feeding Method and Scouring on Days to 90 kg Liveweight27
	D. Summary
III.	EXPERIMENT II: EFFECT OF AGE, DIET AND FEED INTAKE ON PERFORMANCE AND SCOURING
	A. Objective
	B. Materials and Methods
Ĩ.	Animals and Diets
	Statistical Analysis
X	C. Results and Discussion - Piglet Performance39
·	Main Effects
	Interaction of Weaning Age and Diet

viii

그는 그 가지 않는 것 같은 것은 것은 것을 많은 것 같은 것	
Interaction of Diet and Level of Intake44	•
Interaction of Weaning Age and Level of Intake	
Interaction of Diet and Weeks Post-weaning50	
Effect of Parity52	•
D. Results and Discussion - Scours	•.
Main Ef	
Interaction of Diet, Weaning Age and Level of Intake	
Effect of Week Post-weaning	
E. Summary	
승규는 것 같은 것 같	
EXPERIMENT III: EFFECT OF AGE, DIET AND, FEED INTAKE ON APPARENT DIGESTIBILITY	·
A. Objective	
B. Materials and Methods	
Animals and Diets	
Digestion Trial	2 
Laboratory Analyses	
C. Results and Discussion71	
Main Effects71	
Interaction of Weaning Age and Diet	•
Interaction of Diet and Level of Intake	
Interaction of Weaning Age and Level of Intake	
Interaction of Weaning Age and Week Post-weaning	
	•
Interaction of Diet and Week Post-weaning83	
Interaction of Level of Intake and Week	
Post-weaning	
Correlation of Scouring to Digestibility 87	

IV.



#### LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

Formulation and Composition of Starter Diets ..... 10 1. Design of Experiment I.....12 2. 3. 4. Effect of Diet Complexity and Feeding Method on 5. Incidence and Severity of Scours ..... . 22 Performance of Scouring versus Non-scouring Piglets...25 6. 7. Effect of Diet, Feeding Method and Scouring on Days Formulation and Composition of Creep Diet ..... 8. Formulation and Composition of Starter Diets ..... 9. 10. Relative Nutrient Density, Calculated..... 11. Mean Pen Performance by Main Effect.... - 40 12. Mean Weekly Pen Performance..... .42 13. Effect of Weaning Age and Diet on Piglet Performance. 43 14. Effect of Diet and Level of Intake on Piglet Performance....... 15. Mean kcal of Digestible Energy Consumed per kg Pig....46 16. Digestible Energy Consumed per kg of Pig as a Percent of the ND Diet Fed Ad Libitum ..... 17. Effect of Weaning Age and Level of Intake on Piglet Performance.... 18. Effect of Diet on Weekly Piglet Performance..... 

xi

2	20.	Incidence and Severity of Scours by Main Effect
		Incidence and Severity of Scours by Week
		Effect of Diet, Weaning age and Level of Intake on
		Incidence and Severity of Scours
. 2	23.	Effect of Diet, Weaning Age and Level of Intake on
		Average Daily Digestible Energy and Digestible Crude
		Protein Consumption per kg of Pig
2	24.	Effect of Weaning Age, Level of Intake, Diet and
	,	Week Post-weaning on Incidence of Scours
. 2	25.	Effect of Weaning Age, Level of Intake, Diet and
		week Post-weaning on Severity of Scours
2	.6.	Effect of Weaning Age, Level of Intake, Diet and
		Week Post-weaning on Average Daily Consumption of
	• •	Digestible Energy (kcal/kg of pig)
2	27.	Mean Digestibility (%) of Energy, Protein and Ether
		Extract by Main Effèct
" 2	28.	Mean Weekly Digestibility (%) of Energy, Protein and
	<b>.</b>	Ether Extract
2	.9.	Effect of Weaning Age and Diet on Digestibility
3	. 0	Effect of Diet and Level of Intake on Digestibility 78
•	1.	Effect of Weaning Age and Level of Intake on
		Digestibility
3	92.	Effect of Weaning Age and Week Post-weaning on
		Digestibility
3	3.	Effect of Diet and Week Post-Weaning on
		Digestibility

xiii

3

LIST OF FIGURES

Experimental Design.....

 $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$ 

xiv

Figure

1.

2.

3.

r

#### I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

There are two principal objectives in pig production: (1) to supply meat to the human population and (2) to provide profit to the producer. In their efforts to achieve these two objectives, swine producers attempt to produce a maximum amount of lean meat as economically as possible. One of the many changes made in an effort to increase efficiency and profitability of swine production has been the move to the early weaning of pigs. The potential advantages of early weaning are: (1) improved sow productivity by shortening the interval between farrowing and successful mating, (2) reduced sow feed costs and (3) improved performance of the piglets (Aherne 1977). A frequent problem associated with the practice of early weaning is post-weaning diarrhea (scours) and consequent mortality and reduction in growth rate. Major economic losses are suffered by the swine industry every year due to death of scouring pigs. The potential improvement in performance as a result of early weaning, can only be achieved if the health of the piglets is maintained.

Of the many factors suggested to cause or predispose piglets to post-weaning scours, nutritional stress is most frequently cited. Other important factors are environmental and social stresses. The nutritional stress at weaning arises primarily due to change to a solid diet from a milk diet. For pigs weaned before 3 or 4 weeks of age their digestive enzyme system is not sufficiently developed to

allow proper digestion of cereal-based solid food diets (Catron et al. 1957; Lucas and Lodge 1961; Aumaitre 1972). The incomplete digestion of the solid diet which occurs during the adaptation period in early weaned pigs has two important consequences: (1) the pig is not digesting and absorbing sufficient nutrients to maintain its growth and (2) incomplete digestion results in high levels of available substrate for bacterial growth in the digestive tract.

The insufficiency of available nutrients during the early part of the enzyme adaptation period results in a 'post-weaning growth check'. This growth check has been described by several workers (Smith and Lucas 1957; Leibbrandt et al. 1975b; Okai et al. 1976; Rivera et al. 1978) and may last for 7 to 14 days, depending on managerial, environmental and nutritional factors.

The incomplete digestion may also result in explosive growth of pathogenic bacteria, primarily <u>E. coli</u>, in the small intestine. Kenworthy and Crabb (1963) reported that during scouring periods in weaned pigs weighing 4.5 kilograms, total bacterial counts increased significantly and <u>E. coli</u> made up the majority of the intestinal flora. Subsequently Kenworthy and Allen (1966) observed a temporary malabsorption of fat and carbohydrates in pigs weaned at 3 weeks of age, together with an increase in intestinal fluid and a reduction in fecal solids.

Thus the pig is confronted with a period in which his body reserves are low due to weight loss and he is

.

simultaneously challenged by higher than normal populations of enteropathogenic bacteria. The pig's capacity to recover body reserves and to fight off potential or actual disease is limited by the capacity of the digestive enzyme system to provide nutrients available to the animal.

Based on this knowledge several nutritional factors associated with the incidence and severity of post-weaning diarrhea in young pigs have been identified. These are: diet complexity - the number and quality of energy and protein sources; protein:calorie ratios - varying levels of protein and energy; nutrient density - digestible nutrients per kg of diet; feed intake - overeating; and dietary fibre levels.

The benefits of high dietary fibre levels may be related to the ability of fibre to absorb fluid from the digestive tract and reduce rate of passage, thus preventing the highly fluid diarrhea that leads to dehydration, at least until the pig has adapted to the diet (Richards and Frazer 1961). Much recent effort has been directed towards the use of oats in pig starters to increase fibre levels. Properly balanced diets with up to 30% oats have been fed with no significant effect on visual diarrhea score (Rivera et al. 1978; Watts and Moser 1979; Wahlstrom et al. 1977). Armstrong and Cline (1976, 1977) in comprehensive studies using the ligated intestinal loop technique, intestinal fistulation and intestinal titration, demonstrated that 20% oats did reduce fluid accumulation in the intestine over a corn-soybean control, but had no significant effect upon

fecal <u>E. coli</u> numbers, intestinal <u>E. coli</u> numbers or percent hemolytic <u>E. coli</u> following an oral <u>E. coli</u> challenge or visual observation of diarrhea.

All other nutritional factors associated with diarrhea, are functions of feed and/or nutrient intake. Prior to weaning the pig has very liftle control over his feed supply . Piglets nurse very frequently (16 to 20 times per day) and only receive small quantities of milk at each feeding (35 to 45 g per feeding at 20 days of age). The piglet would, therefore, appear to be very susceptible to the uncontrolled intake of a dry diet. Stevens (1963) and Thomlinson (1969) observed that post-weaning diarrhea is frequently associated with erratic post-weaning feed intake. They noted that pigs tend not to eat for a period of time following weaning and then to gat a large meal. During this period when the pig's digestive processes are adapting to solid food, a large meal may 'overload' the digestive system and result in diarrhea and discomfort. This discomfort will cause the pig not to eat for a period of time, then to consume another large meal resulting in another scouring episode. If the volume of feed intake is an important factor in post-weaning scours, then restricting intake should reduce the incidence and severity of diarrhea by encouraging smaller, more frequent meals. Arambawela et al. (1975) observed a higher frequency of digestive disturbances in 3-week-weaped pigs fed ad libitum than when fed restricted on a barley diet. Kruse et al. (1976) made the same observation and recommended restricted

-4

feeding for the first 2 weeks post-weaning. Danielsen et al. (1975) recommended a 50% reduction of feed during the first 2 weeks post-weaning to reduce the incidence of scours.

Large single meals tend to alter the normal motile activity of the gut (Ruckebusch and Bueno 1976; Porter and Rolls 1971). Distension of the stomach and small intestine results in temporary stasis of the gastro-intestinal tract followed by fluid accumulation and rapid peristaltic activity. This results in an overall increased rate of passage and reduced nutrient digestibility. Kenworthy and Crabb. (1963) postulated that a degree of gut-stasis and a sufficiency of nutrients are required for proliferation of hemolytic E. coli in the gut. Preventing the consumption of large single meals should, therefore, reduce the incidence of scouring. Also since the feed intake of adult pigs can be reduced by feeding high energy or high nutrient density diets (Likuski et al. 1961; Owen and Ridgman 1967, 1968; Cole et al. 1967; Lodge et al. 1972) it may also be possible to reduce the intake of weaned pigs by feeding high nutrient density diets. This has been shown to be true by O'Grady and Bowland (1972), Campbell et al. (1975) and Leibbrandt et al. (1975a) although none of these authors were studying the effect of intake on scouring. The metabolic regulation of feed intake is apparently sufficiently well developed even in the early-weaned pig to result in a reduced feed intake while not reducing nutrient intake. The feeding of a high nutrient density diet should, therefore, reduce the problems

*`*5

associated with the intake of large infrequent meals.

If post-weaning diarrhea is primarily the result of relatively large quantities of undigested feed in the intestine stimulating bacterial growth, then restricting nutrient intake should further reduce the likelihood of diarrhea. Restricting the daily nutrient intake should reduce scouring by providing less substrate for bacterial growth. Indeed, Palmer and Hulland (1965) found that restricting feed intake reduced the counts of total and of hemolytic <u>E. coli</u> per g of feces in early weaned pigs. They špeculated that digestive enzyme insufficiency and the consequent increase in undigested feed in the intestinal tract were likely responsible for the proliferation of <u>E.</u> <u>coli</u> in the early weaned, ad libitum fed pigs.

The complexity of the diet has frequently been implicated in post-weaning diarrhea. The complexity of the starter diet has been suggested to increase the potential for scouring due to the greater palatability of the diet, leading to over-consumption (Okai 1974; Bayley and Carlson 1970; Smith and Lucas 1956).

The consumption of simple diets by pigs weaned at 3 to 5 weeks of age has been shown to be less than the consumption of semi-complex or complex diets (Meade et al. 1969; Zimmerman 1972; Okai et al. 1976). The reduced consumption and poorer initial digestibility of the simpler diets has been shown by the same workers to result in lower rates of gain and poorer feed efficiencies to 5 or 7 weeks

of age, although these differences tend to disappear during the growing-finishing period. The reduced consumption and lower availability of nutrients in the simple diet conceivably should result in a lower incidence of scouring. Similar suggestions have been made by Richards and Prazer (1961), Goodwin (1957) and Jennings (1959).

A difference in susceptibility to diarrhea due to age has also been noted. Kenworthy and Crabb (1963) produced severe diarrhea in pigs weaned at 24 days of age whereas the same treatment produced only minor diarrhea in those weaned at 6 weeks of age and none at all in those weaned at 8 weeks of age. Smith and Jones (1963) produced disease and death in pigs weaned at 24 hr and 14 days, but not in 9 week old pigs dosed with much higher levels of pathogenic <u>E.coli</u>. Some of the differences in age susceptibility are undoubtedly due to the stage of development of the digestive enzymes. However, part of the difference is also due to the developing immunological system in the piglet. The piglet's immunity system is not fully developed to handle serious enteric disease challenge until about 35 days of age, as measured by immunoglobin secretory ability of the intestine (Porter 1976). Prior to weaning, maternal 'immunoglobin in the milk has afforded the piglet protection from enteric disease (Leece 1975; Porter 1976). When weaned at 3 to 4 weeks of age pigs are, therefore, more susceptible to enteric diseases than younger or older pigs. Since 3 and 4 weeks of age are the most popular ages at which to wean pigs for

those practising early weaning, a comparison between these two ages in terms of susceptibility to diarrhea would be valuable.

The factors of volume of feed consumed, nutrient intake, diet composition and weaning age have been identified as being associated with post-weaning diarrhea in young pigs. The assessment of interactions between and relative importance of these factors would contribute to our knowledge of the problem.

# II. EXPERIMENT I: EFFECT OF DIET COMPLEXITY AND FEED INTAKE ON PERFORMANCE AND SCOURING OF 3-WEEK-WEANED PIGS

#### A. Objective

The objective of this study was to compare the effects of a simple and a semi-complex diet, fed ad libitum or by 2 methods of restriction, on performance and the incidence and severity of scours in 3-week-weaned pigs.

# B. Materials and Methods

#### Animals and Diets

Seventy-two crossbred pigs from 12 litters were used in this study. All sows were farrowed in raised, partially slatted farrowing crates. Farrowing barn temperature was maintained at 20 C and litters were given supplemental heat by means of 250 watt infra-red bulbs. Piglets were injected with an iron dextran before 3 days of age and needle teeth were clipped at that time. Males were castrated at 10 days of age. No creep feed was offered, although the pigs had access to feed spilled by their dams.

The piglets were weaned at 21 days of age and fed for 14 days on either a simple or semi-complex diet. The composition and analysis of diets appears in Table 1. The diets contained no antibiotic or growth promotant and were based on the regular test station diet calculated to meet NAS-NBC 1973 nutrient requirements. Each diet was fed at 3

	Simple	Semi- Complex
Ingredients (%):		
Wheat	25.0	35.0
Barley	\$25.0	20.0
Oat Groats	25.0	15.0
Tallow	3.0	2.0
Soybean meal	18.0	7.0
Herring meal		5.0
Dried skim milk		2.5
Dried whey		10.0
Iodized salt	0.5	0.5
Calcium phosphate	1.5	1.25
Calcium carbonate	1.0	0.75
Vitamin-mineral premix <sup>1</sup>	1.0	1.0
omposition (Analyzed):		
Crude protein (%)		18.5
Crude fibre (%)	4.3	2.8
-Calcium (%)	0.93	1.1
Phosphorus (%)	0.77	0.76
DE (kcal/kg-calculated)	3376	3370

# TABLE 1: FORMULATION AND COMPOSITION OF STARTER DIETS

.

Ŷ

7

Co

<sup>1</sup>Supplied the following per kg of diet: 4,400 IU vitamin A; 665.5 IU vitamin D<sub>2</sub>; 11 IU vitamin E; 66 mg vitamin B<sub>12</sub>; 11.1 mg riboflavin; 22.2 mg calcium pantothenate; 50.5 mg niacin; 55.7 mg choline chloride; 1.65 mg folic acid; 2.8 mg cobalt; 24.6 mg copper; 294.1 mg iron; 76.2 mg manganese; 88.5 mg zinc and 1.5 mg iodine. levels of feed intake: ad libitum, restricted feeding by limiting the time exposed to the feeder (time-limited) and restricting intake by regulating the amount of food fed (weight-limited). The feeding schedule for the timed group started with feed available for 2 hours per day and was increased by 2 hours every 3 days. On days 13 and 14, when the feed was available for 10 hours per day, 11 of the 12 time-limited pens of pigs were consuming an amount of feed equivalent to the ad libitum fed group (calculated as a percent of body weight). For the weight-limited group, the weight of food fed was calculated as a percentage of the feed consumption of the ad libitum pigs on the previous day. On day 1 the weight-limited group received 20 g of feed and on day 2 they received 20 g or 50% of the amount consumed by their littermates fed ad libitum, whichever was greater. Thereafter the allotment increased by 10% every 3 days so that on day 13 and 14 these pigs were offered 90% of the feed consumed by the pigs fed ad libitum. All weight-limited pigs failed to consume their daily allotment on days 13 and 14 due to their smaller body weight compared to the ad libitum fed group. An outline of the experimental design appears in Table 2.

Twelve litters of 8 to 10 pigs were randomly assigned to diets at weaning. The 6 pigs in each litter weighing closest to the mean litter weight were allotted in pairs to the 3 feed intake treatments within a diet on the basis of sex. Thus each pen contained 1 barrow and 1 gilt from the



same litter and all'6 pigs were fed the same diet.

The pigs were housed in half-slatted concrete floor pens measuring 1.22 m X 1.22 m. Environmental temperature was maintained at 23 C and water was available ad libitum from automatic drinking bowls. The feed was supplied in commercial 3-hole feeders. The previous day's feed was removed and fresh feed was added daily. Pig weights and feed intakes were recorded daily. Care was taken to sweep-up spilled feed every day to ensure accurate feed intake data.

The incidence and severity of diarrhea were recorded daily for each pig based on observations during a 3 to 4 hour period each morning. The incidence of scouring was measured as the number of days that each pig scoured. The severity of scouring was determined by visual observation and recorded on a scale of 0 to 3 according to the parameters outlined below:

0 - firm -normal feces,

1 - slight - feces very soft, unable to maintain shape,

2 - moderate - complete lack of definition, partly fluid but not free flowing

3 - severe - very fluid, free flowing.

# Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance was performed on the data to determine significant differences between treatments. The Student Newman-Keuls multiple range test was used to determine differences between groups of means. A Students

13

t test was used to determine differences between pairs of means (Steel and Torrie 1960).

14

۰ı \_

C. Results and Discussion

Effect of Diet Complexity on Performance

The effects of diet complexity on pig performance are shown in Table 3. There were no significant differences between the two diets for average daily gain (ADG), average daily feed intake (ADF) or gain to feed ratio although there was a slight tendency towards increased performance for pigs fed the semi-complex diet. A significant improvement in feed intake and gain due to increasing diet complexity was reported by Okai et al. (1976) when similar diets were fed to 3-week-weaned pigs for 4 weeks post-weaning. Improved performance in 3-week-weaned pigs due to diet complexity has also been reported by Meade et al. (1969), Bayley and Čarlson (1970) and Zimmernan (1972). The lack of difference found in this trial was partly due to the short experimental period (14 days) and partly due to the difference in scouring, as discussed later. Okai (1974) obtained no differences in gain between a simple and semi-complex diet when compared after 2 weeks post-weaning.

Figure 1 shows daily post-weaning growth rate of pigs fed the 2 diets. There was virtually no difference in total, gain between the 2-diets. Pigs fed the simple diet lost more weight and required 1 more day to regain their weaning weight (8 vs. 7 days) than pigs fed the semi-complex diet. Okai et al. (1976) reported a post-weaning growth check very

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				<u> </u>	
Diet	Initial Weight (kg)	Final Weight (kg)	ADG (g)	ADF (g)	<u>Gain</u> Feed
Simple	5.08	5.89	58 -	165	.352
Semi-Complex	4.72	5.57	61	146	.418
Significance	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
SE <sup>1</sup>	.161	.261	10.5	10.6	.049

TABLE 3: EFFECT OF DIET COMPLEXITY ON PIG PERFORMANCE

<sup>1</sup>Standard Error

ď.



similar to this. His pigs fed the simple diet also required 1 more day to regain their weaning weight.

# Effect of Feeding Method on Performance

Table 4 shows the effect of feeding method on piglet performance. The ad libitum fed pigs had the lowest initial weight (P<0.05), significantly greater average daily gain (P<0.05), average daily feed intake (P<0.01) and gain to feed ratio (P<0.05) than either group of pigs fed at a restricted level. There were no significant differences in ADG, ADF or gain to feed ratio between the 2 methods of feed restriction, although the time-limited pigs did slightly better in all 3 parameters. The weight-limited pigs gave the overall lowest performance of all groups. Although pigs were randomly allotted to treatments, initial weight was significantly different between the 3 feeding methods.

Figure 2 displays the daily weight change of pigs fed by the different methods. The ad libitum fed pigs began gaining weight after the first day and regained their weaning weight at an average of 4.5 days. The time-limited and weight-limited pigs regained their weaning weights in 7.2 and 10.4 days, respectively. Figure 2 shows why the overall difference in gain between the 2 methods of restriction was not significant. Although the weight-limited pigs lost nearly twice as much weight as the time-limited pigs their total gain for the period was similar. Between day 7 and 14 the weight-limited pigs had a significantly...

a construction of the second of the second second

					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
TABLE	4:	EFFECT OF FEE	DING METHOD	ON PIG PER	FORMANCE

*•* ۸

19

......

Feeding Method	Initial Weight (kg)	Final Weight (kg)	ADG (g)	• ADF • (g).	<u>Gain</u> Feed
Ad Libitum	4.69 <sup>a</sup>	6.03 <sup>a</sup>	97 <sup>a</sup>	208 <sup>a</sup>	.466 <sup>a</sup>
Time-Limited	4.85 <sup>b</sup>	5.47 <sup>b</sup>	45 <sup>b</sup>	-165 <sup>b</sup> -	.273 <sup>b</sup> .
Weight-Limited	5.12 <sup>c</sup>	5.69 <sup>b</sup>	37 <sup>b</sup>	140 <sup>b</sup>	.264 <sup>b</sup>
SE	.035	.106	5.3	11.4	.017

 $^{1}$  Means within columns with the same superscript are not significantly different (P>0.05).



greater ADG (P<0.01) than the time-limited pigs (64 g/day versus 44 g/day). By 14 days the weight-limited pigs had caught up to the time-limited pigs in gain. This phenomenon of compensatory growth has been frequently described (Elsley 1963; Lucas et al. 1959).

Effect of Diet Complexity and Feeding Method on Scouring Table 5 shows that when fed the simple diet there were fewer plgs scouring, fewer days of scouring, a lower average number of days of scour per pig (incidence) and a lower average scour number (severity) than when fed the semi-complex diet. The only significant difference, however, was for average scour number where the pigs fed the semi-complex diet scoured more severely (P<0.01) than pigs fed the simple diet. This is likely part of the reason why no difference in performance was observed between the 2 diets. Several other researchers have reported that scours occur less frequently on simple diets (Okai 1974; Bayley and Carlson 1970; Smith and Lucas 1956). Scouring has also been shown to lead to a reduced feed intake and lower weight gain (Stevens 1963; Palmer and Hulland 1965; Thomlinson 1969).

Feeding methods had an important effect upon scouring as shown on the bottom half of Table 5. The most pigs scoured when they were fed by the time-limited method. They also scoured for more days (P<0.05) than pigs fed either ad libitum or on a weight-limited basis. The weight-limited fed pigs scoured for significantly fewer days than the ad
# TABLE 5: EFFECT OF DIET COMPLEXITY AND FEEDING METHOD<sup>1</sup> ON INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF SCOURS

ÈI.

22

•	Number of Pigs Scouring <sup>2</sup>	Total Number of Days	Average Number <sub>3</sub> of Days <sup>3</sup>	Average Scour <sub>3</sub> Number
Diet:				na = 1 − 22. 1 − 1 − 2 − 1 − 22.
Simple	23	90	3.8	6.8
Sęmi-Complex	26	142	- 5-3	- 11.2
Significance		NS	NS	**
SE		25.5	.71	1.47
Feeding Method:	* •		G	
Ad Libitum	15	87 <sup>a</sup>	5.4 <sup>a</sup>	11.5 <sup>a</sup>
Time-Limited	20	103 <sup>b</sup>	5.2 <sup>a</sup>	9.4 <sup>b</sup>
Weight-Limited	15	43 <sup>C</sup>	2.9 <sup>b</sup>	5.9 <sup>C</sup>
		14.1	.59	.84

<sup>1</sup>Means within columns with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

<sup>2</sup>Thirty-six pigs per diet; twenty-four pigs per feeding method.

<sup>3</sup>per pig scouring

<sup>™</sup>(\*P く0.01)

libitum fed pigs. There was no difference in average number of days scouring for pigs fed either ad libitum or time-limited, but the weight-limited fed pigs scoured significantly less than the other 2 feeding methods. The time-limited method of restricting intaké was not satisfactory since it resulted in a greater incidence of scours than ad libitum feeding. The greater incidence of scouring for the time-limited pigs is probably due to their more erratic feed intake and tendency to overeat when the feeder was first placed in the pen each day. Since the pigs were allowed to eat as much as they wanted while the feeder , was in the pen, they tended to eat as much as they could. Large single meals tend to result in temporary stasis of the gastro-intestinal tract, followed by fluid accumulation and rapid peristaltic activity resulting in reduced digestibility and increased rate of passage (Ruckebusch and Bueno 1976; Porter and Rolls 1971). Kenworthy and Crabb

(1963) suggested that gut stasis may allow the proliferation of hemolytic <u>E. coli</u> in the gut and thus result in scouring. This is probably what happened to the time-limited fed pigs.

All 3 methods of feeding had significantly different scour numbers, with the ad libitum fed pigs scouring most severely and those fed by the weight-limited method scouring least severely. Thus the overall lowest level of scouring occurred with pigs fed on the weight-limited basis. These results are in agreement with those of Lynch (1975) who reported that restricting post-weaning feed intake on an increasing scale for 14 days reduced incidence of scouring and piglet mortality in pigs weaned at 4 weeks of age. English et al. (1978) have also reported a decrease in mortality and number of veterinary treatments for scours when complex diets were similarly restricted on a large commercial operation. There was no mortality in the experiment reported here. Restricting feed intake by weight would reduce scouring by preventing over-eating and by reducing the availability of nutrients in the gut for bacterial growth.

### Effect of Scouring on Performance

The total gain and gain to feed ratio of scouring pigs are compared to that of non-scouring pigs in Table 6. Scouring caused a significant reduction in gain when either diet was fed (P<0.05). Between the 2 diets there was no difference in the gain of scouring piglets, but non-scouring piglets gained significantly more on the semi-complex diet (P<0.05). Since there were only 10 of 36 pigs that did not scour on the semi-complex diet (Table 5), this explains the lack of difference in gain overall between the two diets.

The gain to feed ratio of scouring pigs fed either diet was significantly less (P<0.05) than the non-scouring pigs. Scouring pigs required 65 to 72% more feed per unit of gain than non-scouring piglets. The effect of scouring upon feeding economics is plainly apparent.

Within feeding method the loss in gain and reduced gain

PERFORMANCE OF SCOURING VERSUS NON-SCOURING PIGLETS TABLE 6:

25

IOTAI Ga	in (g) <sup>-</sup>		Gain/	Feed	
Scouring	Non- Scouring,	Sig <sup>3</sup>	Scouring	Non- Scouring	Sig <sup>3</sup>
•					
673	1050	*	.283	.440	*
713	1167	*	. 336	.459	*
NS	*	c	NS	NS	
14	5		•(	)49	
	ат <u>у</u> на стаду.	ی موسط آلیک ہے۔ ان ان ا	್ಷಾಕ್ಷಕ್ಕೆ ಆ, <sup>®</sup> ಇತೆಂಕಿ ಇಂದುಕೆಕ್		
`1135 <sup>a</sup>	1700 <sup>a</sup>	***	.431 <sup>a</sup> '	.543 <sup>a</sup>	***
570 <sup>b</sup>	875 <sup>b</sup>	***	.272 <sup>b</sup>	.384 <sup>b</sup>	***
365 <sup>C</sup>	750 <sup>b</sup>	***	.228 <sup>b</sup>	.421 <sup>b</sup>	/ <b>***</b>
	74			017	
05).			pt are not	significan	tly
eeks to 5 w	eeks of age	<b>.</b>			
	Scouring 673 713 NS 14 1135 <sup>a</sup> 570 <sup>b</sup> 365 <sup>c</sup> 365 <sup>c</sup> umns with th	Scouring       Scouring         673       1050         713       1167         NS       *         145       145         `1135 <sup>a</sup> 1700 <sup>a</sup> 570 <sup>b</sup> 875 <sup>b</sup> 365 <sup>c</sup> 750 <sup>b</sup> 74       74	Non-       Scouring       Sig <sup>3</sup> $673$ $1050$ * $713$ $1167$ *         NS       *       * $145$ *       * $1135^a$ $1700^a$ *** $570^b$ $875^b$ *** $365^c$ $750^b$ *** $74$ *       *	Non- ScouringSig <sup>3</sup> Scouring6731050 $*$ .2837131167 $*$ .336NS $*$ NS145.01135 <sup>a</sup> 1700 <sup>a</sup> $***$ .431 <sup>a</sup> 570 <sup>b</sup> 875 <sup>b</sup> $***$ .272 <sup>b</sup> 365 <sup>c</sup> 750 <sup>b</sup> $***$ .228 <sup>b</sup> 74.228 <sup>b</sup>	Non- ScouringNon- ScouringNon- Scouring $673$ $1050$ $*$ $283$ $.440$ $713$ $1167$ $.336$ $.459$ NS $*$ NSNSNS $145$ $.049$ $.049$ $1135^{a}$ $1700^{a}$ $***$ $.431^{a}$ $.543^{a}$ $570^{b}$ $875^{b}$ $***$ $.272^{b}$ $.384^{b}$ $365^{c}$ $750^{b}$ $***$ $.228^{b}$ $.421^{b}$ $74$ $.017$ $.017$

\*(P<0.05) \*\*\*\*(P<0.005)

to feed ratio due to scouring was very highly significant (P < 0.001). The total gain of scouring piglets was significantly different for each feeding method, being highest for ad libitum feeding and lowest for weight-limited feeding.

Greater gains were achieved by the non-scouring piglets. The highest gain was naturally achieved by the ad libitum fed pigs (P<0.05). There was no significant difference in gain between the 2 methods of restriction when no scouring occurred. Scouring reduced the gain of ad libitum fed pigs by 565 g/pig while restricting intake by time or weight reduced performance of non-scouring piglets by 825 g and 950 g/pig, respectively. Thus these methods of restriction reduced performance to a greater degree than did scouring during the 2 week experimental period.

The gain to feed ratio of ad libitum fed pigs was significantly greater than the 2 methods of feed restriction for both scouring and non-scouring piglets. There was no difference in gain to feed ratio between time-limited of weight-limited fed pigs, whether scouring or non-scouring. The weight-limited fed pigs tended to give a greater gain to feed ratio than the time-limited fed pigs when not scouring. The lower gain to feed ratios for the restricted fed pigs is a reflection of the amount of feed eaten relative to their maintenance requirement (Elsley 1963). For both restricted fed groups, there was very little feed above that required for maintenance left over for growth, therefore, there was

reduced growth and a low gain to feed ratio.

Since the non-scouring, ad libitum fed pigs performed at a normal level during the study, the overall poor performance reported can be explained by the high percentage of pigs that scoured (Table 5) and the large reduction in performance due to scouring (Table 6).

Effect of Diet Complexity, Feeding Method and Scouring on Days to 90 kg Liveweight

In spite of the poor post-weaning performance the number of days required to reach 90 kg liveweight was relatively normal (Table 7). There was no significant effect on days to 90 kg due to composition of post-weaning diet or method of feeding. A number of authors have noted that lowering feed intake and gain in the post-weaning period results in more rapid gain and better feed conversion during the subsequent growing and finishing period which allows the restricted pigs to 'catch-up' (Nielsen 1964,1976: Elsley 1963; Ludas et al. 1959). In this experiment even the very severe restriction suffered by the weight-limited pigs during the 2 week post-weaning period did not significantly reduce their subsequent growth rate. The degree of post-weaning scouring also had no effect upon growth rate to 90 kg liveweight. This data indicates that dietary treatments immediately post-weaning may not have a significant effect on overall pig performance to 90 kg. However, this experiment only lasted for 14 days which may

# TABLE 7: EFFECT OF DIET, FEEDING METHOD AND SCOURING ON DAYS TO 90 KG LIVEWEIGHT

J <sub>3</sub>		Days to 90 kg	Number of Pigs	<b>.</b>
	<u>Diet</u> :	\$		
	Simple	163.0	36	
	Semi-Complex.	169.0	36	
	Significance	NS		
	SE	2.3	· 2	•
•	Feeding Method:			
	Ad Libitum	168.5	24	1
	Time-Limited	163.4	24	х
	Weight-Limited	166.2	24	
	Significance	NS		,
•	SF	2.2		
	Scours:			
ł	Scouring	167.7	49	
	Non-Scouring	162.6	23	
	Significance	NS		
	SE	2.9		

not have been long enough to affect subsequent performance by dietary methods. Scouring on the other hand has been shown to damage intestinal villi and reduce absorptive capacity (Scrimshaw 1977). It is surprising therefore that scouring pigs in this experiment achieved the same days to 90 kilograms as non-scouring pigs. The scouring in this study may not have been severe enough to cause intestinal damage.

D. Summary

Diet complexity did not significantly affect pig performance. Restriction of feed intake significantly reduced performance compared to that of pigs fed ad libitum. There was no significant difference in performance between pigs on the 2 methods of feed restriction.

The scouring which occurred on the semi-complex diet was significantly more severe than that which occurred on the simple diet. The restriction of starter feed intake by weight of food fed significantly reduced the incidence and severity of post-weaning scours. Limiting time exposed to the feeder was not a satisfactory method of reducing scours as it resulted in greater incidence of scouring than did ad libitum feeding. Scouring caused by either diet or either feeding method significantly reduced performance. Restricting feed intake by the methods used in this experiment reduced performance more than did scouring.

The number of days taken to reach 90 kg liveweight was not affected by diet complexity, feeding method or scouring in the immediate post-weaning period.

30

. . .

a

# III. EXPERIMENT II: EFFECT OF AGE, DIET AND FEED INTAKE ON PERFORMANCE AND SCOURING

#### A. Objective

The objective of this experiment was to assess the effects of weaning age, nutrient density of the diet and level of feed and nutrient intake on performance and the incidence and severity of diarrhea in piglets.

#### B. Materials and Methods

#### Animals and Diets

One hundred and twenty-eight pigs from 16 cross-bred sows were used in this study. There were 8 sows in each of 2 parity groups, being either first litter or fifth litter sows. Creep feed (Table 8) was offered to all piglets ad libitum beginning at 14 days of age. One half of the pigs (64) were weaned at each of 3 weeks and 4 weeks of age. The initial weight averaged 5.03 kg. for the 3-week-weaned pigs and 6.94 kg. for the 4-week-weaned pigs. A weaning age by parity interaction was developed by weaning litters from both parity groups at both ages. The standard baby pig management practices were as described in Experiment I.

Two different semi-complex type diets were fed to pigs of each age group. The diets were a 'normal nutrient density' (ND) based on the NAS-NRC (1973) recommendations and a diet formulated with 10% higher nutrient density (HD).

្ន 31

The second	· · · · · · · · · · ·		
Ingredients (%):	· · ·	. •	•
Wheat	25.0		
Barley	13.0	• - · • •	*
Oat Groats	25.0		· •
Tallow	2.0	J.	
Soybean Meal	,	and the second secon	•. • .
Herring Meal	6.0	en e	•
Dried Skim Milk	10.0		ан Солон (1999) Ал Солон (1999) Ал Солон (1999)
• • Iodized Saît	<b>0.5</b>		
Calcium Phosphate	1.5		а <u>,</u> т
Calcium Carbonate	1.0		
Vitamin-Mineral Premix <sup>1</sup>	1.0		
<u>Composition (calculated)</u> :	an a		* • • •
Crude Protein (%)	22.5		· · ·
Calcium (%)	0.9	•	
Phosphorus (%)	0.8		
Digestible Energy (kcal/kg)	3.49	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	a special
Lysine (%)	1.2		ан
•		÷	•

32

<sup>1</sup>Supplied the following per kg of diet: 4,400 IU vitamin A; 665.5 IU vitamin D<sub>2</sub>; 11 IU vitamin E; 66 mg vitamin B<sub>12</sub>; 11.1 mg riboflavin; 22.2 mg calcium partothenate; 50.5 mg niacin; 55.7 mg choline chloride; 1.65 mg folic acid; 2.8 mg cobalt; 24.6 mg copper; 294.1 mg iron; 76.2 mg manganese; 88.5 mg zinc and 1.5 mg iodine.

The composition of the diets appears in Table 9. The diets contained no antibiotic or growth promotant. Chromic oxide was added at a level of 0.5% for the digestibility .determinations. Soybean oil was used at a level of 10% in

the HD diet to increase the energy content. Soybean oil.was used rather than tallow as 10% tallow in the diet has been shown to be unpalatable to young pigs, since it reduces feed intake more than would be expected from the change in the energy concentration of the diet (Frobish et al. 1970). The fibre levels in the diets were kept constant to eliminate the possible complicating effects of fibre level upon scouring.

Table 10 demonstrates that considerable care was taken in the formulation of the diets to ensure that the level of each nutrient supplied per 1000 kcal of digestible energy was nearly identical in both rations.

Each diet was fed at 2 different intake levels. The 2 feed intake levels were ad libitum and restricted. The level of restriction was 85% of the kcals of digestible energy consumed per kg of pig by pigs fed the ND diet ad libitum. The calculation was based on the ad libitum intake of 2 pens of pigs of the same age and sex. Thus the pigs fed the restricted level of the HD diet were remeiving a lower volume of feed than those on the restricted level of the ND diet, but both were calculated to receive the same amounts of the various nutrients.

The pigs were penned by sex and balanced as closely as

Diet:	ND	HD
Ingredients (%):		······································
Wheat	25.0	20.0
Barley	15.25	9.4
Oat Groats	25.0	20.0
Soybean Meal	11.0	20.0
Herring Meal	6.4	6.0
Dried Whey	10.0	10.0
Tallow	3.0	-
Soybean Oil		10.0
Iodized Salt	0.4	0.5
Calcium Phosphate	1.0	1.45
Calcium Carbonate	0.7	0.65
Vitamin-mineral Premix <sup>1</sup>	1.5	1.5
Lysine - HCl (76%)	0.25	· -
Chromic Oxide	0.5	0.5
omposition (Calculated):		· · ·
Crude Protein (%)	20.4	22.3
Crude Fibre (%)	2.8	2.6
Ether Extract (%)	5.8	12.2
Calcium (%)	0.79	0.85

TABLE 9: FORMULATION AND COMPOSITION OF STARTER DIETS

For composition see Table 1.

Digestible Energy (kcal/kg)

Phosphorus (%)

0.76

34

3737

0.69

		•		·, ·	•	<i></i>	х. Х.	• • • • • • • • •
•			•••. •	· · · .	•.		· · ·	
						•	. •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
TABLE 10: RELATIVE NUTRIE	LENT DENSITY	TY, CALCULATED	LED *		•		. به این افغا	
Diet:		Ŋ		HD	• 1•	•• •• •• ••		م <b>د به</b> المحادث من المراجع الم المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع
g/1000 kcal of Digestible Energy:			2		-	•••	•	
Crude Protein		60.4	۰ ۱	59.8		•	• ••	, <sup>, ,</sup> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Lysine		3.62	• 	3.61	· .	••••	F.	
Methionine & Cystine		1.89	<b>1</b> ,	1.85	•			
Threonine		2.38	. • •	2.38			- 	. • •••• • .
Tryptophan		0.74	<b>*</b> .	0.74	. <b>.</b>			· · · · · ·
Calcium		2.30	ı (19	2.28				• •
Phosphorus		2.04	4	2.03	• 4 4			د . د .
			-					 
			., -	•	-			
	·.		ŗ	- 1 Arr				••••••
			4e	ં જેન				<b>3</b> 5
•			بر بر	۰ ۲.				
	 		۰.	_ ·			•	••••

possible for weight and litter within each age group. The experimental design is shown in Figure 3. Pigs were penned by sex and balanced by litter and parity, so that the genetic effects of sex and dam, and the effect of age of dam upon pig performance could be separated out in the analysis. The error mean square was thus reduced, providing a more sensitive test of the differences due to main effects.

The pigs were housed, 4 per pen on half-slatted concrete floor pens measuring 1.22 m X 1.22 m. The environmental temperature was kept at 27 C. Water was available ad libitum in automatic drinking bowls throughout the experiment. The feed was supplied in commercial 6-hole feeders equipped with a movable slide bar to reduce feed wastage. The slide bars on feeders of the restricted-fed pigs were set such that some feed was retained behind the slide bar after the morning feeding. The remaining feed was then pushed within reach of the pigs approximately 8 hours later.

All pigs were weighed at weaning and at 3, 5, 7, 10, 14, 17, 21, 24 and 28 days post-weaning. The feeding trial concluded 28 days post-weaning. Feed intake was recorded daily by weigh-back and fresh feed was added. All spilled feed was carefully swept-up every day with a camel-hair brush, weighed and used to adjust feed intake.

The incidence and severity of scours were recorded daily. The incidence of scours was measured as the number of scour days occurring per pen. The severity of scouring was

36

et e



based on a daily visual score on a scale of 0 to 3 based on fecal consistency. As in Experiment I, 3 was a severe, highly fluid scour; 2 was a moderate scour; 1 was a slight scour; and 0 indicated no scour. Scores were recorded on a pen basis following observation for signs of scouring on individual pigs, consistency of feces in the pen and consistency of fecés voided during a 3 to 4 hour period each morning. The daily scores were summed to give an index of scour severity for each pen. This method of evaluating scours has been used previously by 0'Grady (1978), Rivera et al. (1978) and Arambawela et al. (1975).

#### <u>Statistical Analysis</u>

Analysis of variance for a factorial design was performed on the data collected. Three pigs died and 1 pig was removed during the experiment. Analysis of covariance was used to estimate the missing observations (Steel and Torrie 1960) and the estimated values were then used for the analysis of variance. An F-test of the mean squares was used to determine significance of main factors. All other pairs of means were evaluated using a t test. The Student Newman-Keuls multiple range test (Sokal and Rolf 1969) was used to determine significant differences between groups of treatment means at the 5% level of probability (P<0.05).

3.8

C. Results and Discussion - Piglet Performance

Three pigs died during the course of the study and were submitted to the Alberta Agriculture, Veterinary Services Division, Diagnostic Laboratory for post-mortem examination. The cause of death was determined for 2 pigs as enteric colibacillosis. Bacterial examination demonstrated hemolytic coliforms agglutinating with K88 antigen. One pig was from the 3-week-weaned, restricted group, fed the ND diet and the other pig was from the 4-week-weaned, ad libitum group, fed the HD diet. The third pig's death was diagnosed as due to an infection resulting from castration. A fourth pig was removed due to a broken foot. Pollowing the death of the 2 pigs to colibacillosis all pigs were treated for 3 days with 1/4 cc Gallimycin-200 Injectable (Abbot Laboratories, Montreal, Can.) and 1 ml. Neomix-Pamine (Tuco Products, Orangeville, Ontario, Can.).

### Main Bffects

The mean pen performance data subdivided by main effect is shown in Table 11. Pigs weaned at 4 weeks of age had a significantly greater average daily gain (ADG) (P<0.005) and average daily feed intake (ADF) (P<0.001) than pigs weaned at 3 weeks of age. Three-week-weaned pigs had a higher (P<0.10) gain to feed ratio. The bodyweight of pigs weaned at 3 or 4 weeks of age was not significantly different

•			
	Average Daily	Average Daily	Overal1
	Gain(g)	Feed(g)	Gain/Feed
Weaning Age:	·····		
3 Week	815	1381	.590
4 Week	1003	1758	. 570
Significance	***	****	NS
<u>Diet</u> :			
ND	883	1621	.545
HD	935	1518	.616
Significance	** **	NS	***
<u>Intake Level</u> :			
Ad Libitum	955	°1714	.557
Restricted	864	1425	.605
Significance	**************************************	***	*
Sex:	фа. 1917 - Г	A A	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Female	900	1544	.583
Male	918	1595	.576
Significance	NS	NS NS	N/S
Standard Error	31.4	44.5	.017
♠ Four pigs/pen.	•		
(P<0.05)			
**(P<0.01)		0	
***(P<0.005)	۰. ک		
**** (P<0.001)			

TABLE 11: MEAN PEN<sup>1</sup> PERFORMANCE BY MAIN EFFECT

(10.86 kg versus 10.74 kg) at 7 weeks of age. Similar observations have been made by Teibbrandt et al. (1975a).

The HD diet supported significantly greater gains (P<0.01) than the ND diet on less feed, thus resulting in a markedly improved gain to feed ratio. (P<0.005). The reason for this difference will be elaborated on during the discussion.

As dictated by the experimental design, the pigs fed ad libitum had greater feed intakes (P<0.001) and thus greater gains (P<0.05) but had a lower gain to feed ratio (P<0.05) than restricted fed pigs.

There was no significant effect of sex upon gain, feed intake or feed conversion. but the normal trend of faster growth rate, greater feed intake and lower feed conversion efficiency of castrated males was observed (ARC 1967).

Weeks post-weaning (Table 12) had a highly significant effect upon all 3 performance parameters. Feed consumption was low the first week resulting in a post-weaning 'check' in growth rate.

### Interaction of Weaning Age and Diet

The effect of weaning age and diet on pig performance is shown in Table 13. The HD diet allowed greater gains than the ND diet for both age groups, but the difference was significant (P<0.005) only for the pigs weaned at 3 weeks of age. There was no significant difference between the 2 diets within age groups for feed intaken However, when age groups

TABLE 12: MEAN WEEKLY PEN <sup>1</sup> PERFORMANCE       Average     Average       Daily     Average       Daily     Baily       Cain(g)     Feed(g)       Feed(g)     Feed(g)       669     1110 <sup>b</sup> 1227 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 1553 <sup>d</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> ignificance     ****       ard Error     *		•			
Average     Average       Daily     Daily       Daily     Baily       Cain(g)     Feed(g)       Gain(g)     Feed(g)       669b     1110b       1227c     2004c       1553d     2603d       ****     ****       30.9     36.5	0	TA	3LE 12:	PERFORMANCE	
Average Daily Baily Gain(g)         Average Daily Feed(g)           2         B8 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 88         563 <sup>a</sup> 1110 <sup>b</sup> 669 <sup>b</sup> 1110 <sup>b</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 1 <sup>2</sup> 27 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> 1653 <sup>d</sup> ****         ****           ard Error         *         36.5					
2 88 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> $1110^{b}$ $1110^{b}$ $1^{2}27^{c}$ $2004^{c}$ $2603^{d}$ $1653^{d}$ $2603^{d}$ $2603^{d}$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$ $****$			Average Daily Gain(g)	Average Daily Feed(g)	Overall Gain/Fee
88 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 563 <sup>a</sup> 1110 <sup>b</sup> 1110 <sup>b</sup> 22004 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> **** **** **** 30.9 36.5 36.5	eek: <sup>2</sup>				
669 <sup>b</sup> 1110 <sup>b</sup> 1227 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> **** **** **** 30.9 36.5 36.5	1		88 <sup>a</sup>	563 <sup>a</sup>	.156 <sup>a</sup>
ce 1 <sup>2</sup> 27 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2004 <sup>c</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> **** ****	2		669 <sup>b</sup>	1110 <sup>b</sup>	.603 <sup>b</sup>
ce 1653 <sup>d</sup> 2603 <sup>d</sup> **** **** **** 36.5 36.5	•	·	1 <sup>°</sup> 227 <sup>°C</sup>	2004 <sup>c</sup>	.612 <sup>bc</sup>
ce **** **** 30.9 36.5	4		1653 <sup>d</sup>	2603 <sup>d</sup>	.635 <sup>C</sup>
* 30.9 36.5	Significance		****	****	· ***
	Standard Error	- - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7	30.9	36.5	.027

Α,

<sup>Z</sup>Means within columns with the same superscript are not significantly different (P>0.05). 'n •

\*\*\*\* (P<0.001).

42

-

43

×

TABLE 13: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE AND DIET ON PIGLET PERFORMANCE

Weaning Age:	3 We	ek	- <u>4 Wee</u>	<u>ek</u>	
Diet:	ND	HD	ND	HD	$se^1$
ADG (g) <sup>2</sup>	780 <sup>a</sup>	<sup>°</sup> 851 <sup>b</sup>	986 <sup>bc</sup>	1019 <sup>C</sup>	44.4
ADF (g)	1440 <sup>a</sup>	1322. <sup>a</sup>	1802 <sup>b</sup>	1714 <sup>b</sup>	62.9
Gain/Feed	.542 <sup>a</sup>	.644 <sup>b</sup>	.547 <sup>a</sup>	.595 <sup>ab</sup>	.024

# <sup>1</sup>Standard Error

Ž

<sup>2</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

are compared, the 4-week-weaned pigs gained significantly more on each diet than did the 3-week-weaned pigs. This is likely a direct result of the greater feed intake by the 4-week-weaned pigs.

### Interaction of Diet and Level of Intake

The data in Table 14 shows that the restricted fed pigs ate significantly less feed than the ad libitum fed pigs, gained less and had a slightly improved gain to feed ratio. This is the normal effect of moderate feed restriction on pig performance (ARC 1967). Pigs fed the HD diet ad libitum consumed 6.7% less feed than those fed the ND diet ad libitum and grew 3.8% faster. Reference to Table 15 shows that virtually the same kcal of digestible energy (DE) per kg of pig were consumed for the 2 diets when fed ad libitum. The slightly greater ADG of pigs fed the HD diet ad libitum on the same level of energy intake as pigs fed the ND diet, suggests that the HD diet was used more efficiently for growth. Campbell et al. (1975) have also noted that the efficiency of utilization of DE for growth tends to increase with increasing dietary concentration of energy, when the calorie: protein ratio is maintained. Restricting the intake of the HD diet improved gain to feed ratio more (9.5%) than crestricting the ND diet (6.5%). The slightly higher DE intake on the HD diet compared to the ND diet when both were restricted, Table 15, may account for the slight difference in gain. The gain to feed ratios were increased but not

TABLE 14: EFFECT OF DIET AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON PIGLET PERFORMANCE

ې يې

7

45

Diet:	•,	ND		HD	
Intake Level:	Ad Libitum	Restricted	Ad Libitum	Restricted	SE
ADG (g) <sup>1</sup>	937 <sup>a</sup>	830 <sup>a</sup>	973 <sup>a</sup>	897 <sup>a</sup>	44.4
ADF (g)	1773 <sup>a</sup>	1469 <sup>b</sup>	1655 <sup>a</sup>	1381 <sup>b</sup>	62.9
Gain/Feed	.528 <sup>a</sup>	.565 <sup>a</sup>	.588 <sup>ab</sup>	.650 <sup>b</sup>	.024

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

•	· · ·		ر <u>ت</u> ہ۔	
	KG PIG HD	AAA	4240	
	BLE "15: MEAN KCAL OF DIGESTIBLE ENERGY CONSUMED PER KG PIG ND	<b>A</b> 028	4140	
	N KCAL OF DIGES			
	TABLE 15: MEA Diet:	Intake Level: Ad Lihitum		

significantly, by the restriction of either diet.

Table 15 also indicates that the pigs did control their ad libitum intake according to nutrient density of the diet, as shown previously by Campbell et al. (1975) and Leibbrandt et al. (1975b), and that the intention of the experiment to limit intake of both diets to the same level of energy intake was achieved. Table 16 shows the DE intake for all treatments as a percent of the DE intake of pigs fed the ND diet'ad libitum. The desired intake of 85% was nearly achieved.

# Interaction of Weaning Age and Level of Intake

There was a significant interaction (P<0.05) of weaning age and level of intake on ADG as shown in Table 17. This interaction occurred because for 4 week weaning the restricted fed pigs had similar gain to those fed ad libitum while for the 3-week-weaned pigs the restricted fed pigs gained much less (P<0.05). This can be explained by the greater number of days and more severe scouring suffered by the 4-week-weaned, ad libitum fed pigs, as compared to the other 3 groups, as shown in Table 22. The higher level of scouring resulted in decreased feed efficiency and lower daily gains. This effect of scouring has been noted by many workers (Lloyd et al. 1957; Smith and Lucas 1956; Goodwin 1957; Jennings 1959). The daily gain was thus reduced to the same level as that achieved by the restricted fed pigs and gain to feed ratio was low, indicating that scouring in the



الم ينعته

# TABLE, 17: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON PIGLET PERFORMANCE

49.

Weaning.Age:		3 We	eek 📩	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ek	·	
Intake Le	vel:	Ad Libiţum	Restricted	Ad Libitum	Restricted	SE	- Br
ADG (g) <sup>1,</sup>	2	905 <sup>a</sup>	726 <sup>b</sup>	1005 <sup>a</sup>	1001 <sup>a</sup>	44.4	e.
ADF (g)		1554 <sup>a</sup>	1209 <sup>b</sup>	1875 <sup>C</sup>	1641 <sup>a</sup>	62.9	
Gain/Feed		.582 <sup>a</sup>	.600 <sup>a</sup>	.536 <sup>b</sup>	.610 <sup>a</sup>	. 024	<b>*</b> .

<sup>1</sup>Significant interaction for ADG (P < 0, 01).

 $^{2}$  Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

4-week-weaned pigs resulted in a greater loss in overall performance than did restricting feed intake. The difference in performance between the ad libitum and restricted fed pigs when weaned at 3 weeks of age was mainly due to actual feed restriction and not any difference in scouring.

## Interaction of Diet and Weeks Post-weaning

Table 18 shows the performance values of diets for each week post-weaning. Within each diget ADG and ADF increased significantly each week. The gain to feed ratio increased but the difference was not always significant.

Although the differences were not significant there were generally greater gains and less feed eater each week on the HD diet than on the ND diet. The difference in feed intake the first week was only 1.2% compared to the other 3 weeks which were 4.1%, 7.4% and 7.6%, respectively. This indicates that the pig requires time to adapt to the diet before it can control feed intake according to its energy requirements. This result agrees with the findings of Owen and Ridgman (1967, 1968) for growing and finishing pigs.

There was a significant interaction (P<0.05) between diet and week for gain to feed ratio. Gain per unit feed for both diets improved significantly between week 1 and week 2. The low gain to feed ratio in the first week was associated with the loss of weight during the 'check' period. Between week 2 and week 3 the gain to feed ratio of pigs fed the ND diet increased by 0.027 units whereas the HD diet increased

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					·		
		;	Weeks Pos	t-weaning	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	Diet	1	2	3	4	SE	
ADG (g) <sup>1</sup> :	ND	52 <sup>a</sup>	672 <sup>b</sup>	116	1640 <sup>d</sup>		
	, HD ,	124 <sup>a</sup>	666 <sup>b</sup>	1285 <sup>C</sup>	1665 <sup>C</sup>	43.7	
Significan	се	NS	NS	NS	NS		
ADF (g):	ND	566 <sup>a</sup>	1133 <sup>b</sup>	2080 <sup>C</sup>	2705 <sup>d</sup>		
•	HĎ	559 <sup>a</sup>	1086 <sup>b</sup>	1927 <sup>C</sup>	2500 <sup>d</sup>	51.5	
🥪 Significan	се	NS	NS	NS	NS	-	
Gain/Feed <sup>2</sup> :	ND	.069 <sup>a</sup>	.589 <sup>b</sup>	.616 <sup>b</sup>	.635 <sup>b</sup>		
	HD	.211 <sup>a</sup>	.617 <sup>b</sup>	• 706 <sup>C</sup>	.704 <sup>C</sup>	.039	
Significan	ce	*	NS	NS	NS		

TABLE 18 ... EFFECT OF DIET ON WEEKLY PIGLET PERFORMANCE

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (1 > 0.05).

<sup>2</sup>Significant interaction for gain/feed (P< 0.05).

\*(P<0.05)

by 0.089 units. A further increase occurred for the ND diet between week 3 and week 4, but there was no change in gain to feed ratio for the HD diet. This would indicate that the HD diet was being utilized as efficiently as possible by week 3, but efficiency of use of the ND diet was still increasing. A gradual improvement in feed efficiency over a 3 week period following weaning has also been noted by Okai (1974).

There was no significant difference between diets within weeks except for week 1 where the HD diet gave a significantly (P<0.05) higher gain to feed ratio. This is a result of the slightly lower ADF and greater ADG during week 1 for pigs fed the HD diet. Pigs fed the HD diet tended to recover from the post-weaning growth check more quickly than pigs fed the ND diet. Thus pigs fed the HD diet had a significantly better gain to feed ratio in the first week. Several authors have shown that semi-complex and complex diets, which generally have a greater concentration of DE, tend to reduce the post-weaning growth check (Okai et al. 1976; Meade et al. 1965; Bayley and Carlson 1970).

#### Effect of Parity

The effect of parity on piglet performance was examined and Table 19 shows that pigs born to gilts gained as much weight during the experiment as pigs born to fifth-litter sows. Pige born to gilts are generally more susceptible to scouring during the nursing period than pigs born to older



sows because the colostrum and milk from gilts has a less complete complement of antibodies. The pigs born to gilts will, therefore, have less disease resistance (Porter 1976). If a difference in scouring had occurred between pigs born to first or fifth parity sows then a difference in gain would also have occurred. There was no difference due to parity observed in this experiment.

#### D. Results and Discussion - Scours

### <u>Main Effects</u>

The incidence and severity of scours, subdivided by main effects is shown in Table 20. Piglets weaned at 4 weeks of age had a greater severity (P<0.10) and incidence of scours than pigs weaned at 3 weeks of age. This is contrary to 'results which have shown that younger pigs tend to scour more than older pigs (Kenworthy and Crabb 1963; Smith and Jones 1963). However, calculation of the kcals of digestible energy (DE) and g of digestible crude protein (DCP)<sup>7</sup> consumed per kg of pig shows that the 4-week-weaned pigs consumed more energy and more protein per kg of bodyweight than 3-week-weaned pigs. This data is discussed later and lends support to the hypothesis that nutrient intake predisposes young pigs to diarrhea.

The HD diet caused more severe scouring (P<0.10) for more days than the ND diet. Ad libitum feeding resulted in a higher incidence (P<0.05) and greater severity (P<0.10) of scouring than restricted feeding. These results suggest that both volume of feed consumed and total nutrient intake influence both incidence and severity of scouring.

Females had more severe scours (P<0.10) and a higher incidence of scouring (P<0.10) than males. This was true for every interaction examined except for 4-week-weaned pigs with restricted intake. The sex difference in scouring was

TABLE 20: INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF SCOURS BY MAIN EFFECT

	·	·····			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Severity	. *	Incidence	•	
Weaning Age:	· ·		4		
3 Week	261		115		
4 Week	345	٢.	142	v	
Significance	see , NS	e.	NS		
<u>Diet</u> :				•	
ND	264	•	113		
₩ HD	342		144		
Significance	"NS		NS		
Intake Level:			e	i	
Ad Libitum	346		150		
Restricted	260		107		
Significance	NS		*		
Sex:	· .	*	<b>,</b>		
Female	350		148		
Male	256		109	:	
Significance	NS		NS		
standard Error	33.0	4	14.5		

\*(P<0.05)

Ľ,

likely due to the difference in feed intake, since females always had a lower feed intake than males, except for 4-week-weaned pigs fed at the restricted level, in which case females had a greater feed intake and higher scour indices than males.

The effect of weeks post-weaning, shown in Table 21, was highly significant (P<0.001) for both severity and incidence of scours, being highest in the first week and gradually decreasing to week 4. Although the scour values were lowest for week 4, they were not significantly different from the incidence and severity recorded during week 3. This data again emphasizes how critical the first 2, weeks post-weaning are.

Interaction of Diet, Weaning Age and Level of Intake

The effects of diet, weaning age and level of intake on the incidence and severity of scours are shown in Table 22. The 3-week-weaned pigs fed the HD diet had a significantly greater severity (P<0.05) and incidence (P<0.01) of scouring than those fed the ND diet. Complex diets, which often have high nutrient densities, have frequently been implicated in post-weaning diarrhea (Smith and Lucas 1956; Bayley and Carlson 1970; Okai 1974).

There was significantly more severe and greater incidence of scouring by the 4-week-weaned pigs than the 3-week-weaned pigs when fed on the ND diet (P<0.05). Pigs fed the HD diet ad libitum had slightly higher
1 -	•			Severity	• .	х - - Х.	Incidence
Week <sup>1</sup> :		•				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1	۰.			267 <sup>a</sup>			100 <sup>a</sup> 🖍
2				200 <sup>6</sup>	<b>⊷</b> ₽	а	86 <sup>a</sup>
3		. <b>.</b>		93 <sup>C</sup>			45 <sup>b</sup>
4		· .	ø	. 46 <sup>C</sup>	l	•1	26 <sup>b</sup>
	ι.						
Standard	Error		•	18.9		· ·	7.9

ł

3

ł

1 Means within columns with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

58

v

### TABLE 22: EFFECT OF DIET, WEANING AGE AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY OF SCOURS

\*

	Sever	rity	······	Incide	nce	
Diet:	ND	HD	Sig <sup>1</sup>	• ND	HD	$\operatorname{Sig}^1$
Weaning Age:				ŝ		
3 Week	105	156	*	46	69	**
4 Week	159	186	NS	67	75	NS
Significance	*	NS		*	NS	- • .
Intake Level:			•		•	•
Ad Libitum	162	184	NS	71	79	NS
Restricted	102	158	**	42	65	**
Significance	**	NS		***	NS	
Standard Error	22	.3		10.	.2	
<sup>1</sup> Significance	<i>u</i> ,				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
*(P<0.05)	• • •			<b>3</b>		
**(P<0.01)		•				•
*** (P < 0.005)	19 19	• • •	•	•	с. 	•
	<b>4</b> 1917 - 1917 1917 - 1917	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			• • •	

values for scouring than pigs fed the ND diet but the differences were not significant. However, the HD diet gave significantly greater (P<0.01) severity and incidence of scours than the ND diet when fed at a restricted level. Restricting the intake of the ND diet significantly reduced the severity and incidence of scours but restricting the HD diet did not.

Every significant difference between 3- and 4-week-weaned pigs for severity and incidence of scours, shown in Table 22, can be explained by the difference in intake of DE and DCP as shown in Table 23. The scouring differences between pigs fed the ND diet ad libitum or restricted can also be explained by the differences in nutrient intake shown in Table 23. There is disagreement in significance, however, between the 2 tables concerning intake levels involving the HD diet. In both tables there was no difference between the 2 diets when fed ad libitum. When both diets were restricted a similar pattern was displayed in each table, but the differences in scouring were deemed significant while the differences, however, were found to be significant at P<0.10.

This data on levels of nutrient intake and the high degree of agreement in differences between treatments, in Tables 22 and 23, suggests that nutrient intake may be the controlling factor in predisposing early-weaned piglets to diarrhea. Although 'over-eating' has often been suggested as

# TABLE 23: EFFECT OF DIET, WEANING AGE, AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON<br/>AVERAGE DAILY DIGESTIBLE ENERGY AND DIGESTIBLE<br/>CRUDE PROTEIN CONSUMPTION PER KG OF PIG

	DE <sup>l</sup> (kcal/	'kg pig)	DCP	DCP <sup>1</sup> (g/	kg pig)		•
Diet:	ND	HD	Sig	ND	HD	Sig	
Weaning Age:	, ,	•				۱ ۲	
3 Week	127.3	141,9	*	5.49	6.07	* "	
4 Week	137.4	141.3	NS	6.01	6.19	NS -	
Significance	*	NS		*	NS	• •	
Intake Level:		,			• •	2. A	
Ad Libitum	141.9	150.0	NS	6.22	6.57	NS	
Restricted	122.7	129.4	NS	5.29	5.68	NS	
Significance	***	***		***	***	•	
Standard Error	4.	. 44	•	.2	214	• •	3
<pre>IFor weeks 1, 2, *(P&lt;0.05). ***(P&lt;0.005).</pre>	and 3 only	1. 8					*

the cause of scouring (Stevens 1963; Kenworthy and Crabb 1963; Palmer and Hulland 1965; Thomlinson 1969), to the best of the author's knowledge no one has attempted to separate the effects of feed volume and nutrient intake.

62

#### Effect of Week Post-weaning

Table 24 shows the effect of weeks post-weaning and main factors on the incidence of scouring. In general, incidence of scours was greater for 4-week-weaned pigs than for 3-week-weaned pigs, but the difference was significant only in week 1 and week 3. Ad libitum fed pigs scoured for significantly more days than restricted fed pigs in weeks 1 and 2 (P<0.005) and week 4 (P<0.05) but not in week 3. Pigs fed the HD diet scoured more days than pigs fed the ND diet but this was significant only in week 2.

For all factors the incidence of scours was highest in week 1 and lowest in week 4. In general, there was little difference between weeks 1 and 2 which had greater incidence than weeks 3 and 4. These results indicate that about weeks is required for the pig to adapt to the altered environment. By this time the pig is eating well, has regained its weaning weight, the digestive system is becoming adapted to solid food and immunity is building up.

A similar overall pattern for severity is shown in Table 25. Again the 4-week-weaned pigs scoured significantly more severely in week 1 and restricting intake significantly reduced the severity of scouring in weeks and 2. The

leek:	1	2	3	4
leaning Age <sup>1</sup> :				<u> </u>
3 Week	39 <sup>a</sup>	46 <sup>a</sup>	15 <sup>b</sup>	15 <sup>b</sup>
4 Week	61 <sup>a</sup>	40 <sup>b</sup>	30 <sup>bc</sup>	11 <sup>C</sup>
Significance	***	NS	**	NS
) Intake Level:				
Ad Libitum	59 <sup>a</sup>	52 <sup>a</sup>	20 <sup>b</sup>	19 <sup>b</sup>
Restricted	41 <sup>a</sup>	34 <sup>ab</sup>	25 <sup>b</sup>	7 <sup>C</sup>
Significance	***	***	NS	*
Di <u>et</u> :				
ND	46 <sup>a</sup>	38 <sup>a</sup>	18 <sup>b</sup>	r1 <sup>b</sup>
HD	54 <sup>a</sup>	48 <sup>a</sup>	27 <sup>b</sup>	15 <sup>b</sup>
Significance	NS	*	NS	NS

# TABLE 24: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE, LEVEL OF INTAKE, DIET AND WEEK POST-WEANING ON INCIDENCE OF SCOURS

different (P > 0.05).

\*(P<0.05)

\*\*(P<0.01)

\*\*\*(P<0.005)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•		
Week:	1	2	3	4
Weaning Age <sup>1</sup> :				
3 Week	96 <sup>a</sup>	104 <sup>a</sup>	36 <sup>b</sup>	25 <sup>b</sup>
4 Week	171 <sup>a</sup>	96 <sup>b</sup>	57 <sup>C</sup>	21 <sup>c</sup>
Significance	***	NS	NS	NS
Intake Level:				• • • •
Ad Libitum	157 <sup>a</sup>	120 <sup>b</sup>	37 <sup>C</sup>	32 <sup>C</sup>
Restricted	110 <sup>a</sup>	80 <sup>ab</sup>	56 <sup>b</sup>	14 <sup>C</sup>
Significance	****	***	NS .	NS
Diet	•			
ND	124 <sup>a</sup>	87 <sup>b</sup>	33 <sup>C</sup>	20 <sup>C</sup>
HD	143 <sup>a</sup>	113 <sup>a</sup>	60 <sup>b</sup>	26 <sup>b</sup>
Significance	NS	*	. ★	NS

## TABLE 25: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE, LEVEL OF INTAKE, DIET AND WEEK POST-WEANING ON SEVERITY DFASCOURS

Standard Error = 13.1

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

(P<0.05)

)

\*\* (P<0.01)

(P<0.005)

scouring was more severe on the HD diet and the difference was significant in weeks 2 and 3.

Comparison of Table 26 with Tables 24 and 25 shows that there is a great deal of agreement between them. Within week 1 and week 2 every difference declared significant for severity and incidence of scouring between main factors shows a significant difference in intake of energy.

This data lends strong support to the hypothesis that nutrient intake is an important factor in predisposing weaned pigs to diarrhea. The volume of feed consumed was less important than nutrient intake since there was less weight of feed consumed on the HD diet than on the ND diet but there was more scouring on the HD diet.

TABLE 26: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE, LEVEL OF INTAKE, DIET AND WEEK POST-WEANING ON AVERAGE DAILY CONSUMPTION OF DIGESTIBLE ENERGY (KCAL/KG OF PIG) 66

	<b></b>	······		
Week		2	3	
Weaning Age: <sup>1</sup>				
3º Week	67.3 <sup>a</sup>	135.5 <sup>b</sup> 1	195.3 <sup>C</sup>	
4 Week	79.8 <sup>a</sup>	137.7 <sup>b</sup>	200.5 <sup>C</sup>	
Significance	**	NS	NS	
Intake Level:	\$		· · · · ·	
Ad Libitum	85.3 <sup>a</sup>	1.44.3 <sup>b</sup>	208.3 <sup>C</sup>	
Restricted	61.9 <sup>a</sup> ,	128.8 <sup>b</sup>	187.4 <sup>C</sup>	
Significance	***	**	***	
Diet:				
ND	70.8 <sup>a</sup>	132.4 <sup>b</sup>	193.6 <sup>C</sup> /	
HD	75.3 <sup>a</sup>	141.7 <sup>b</sup>	202.1	
Significance	- NS	* * * 1	NS	

Standard Error = 4.23

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P>0.05).

\*(P<0.05).

\*\*(P<0.01).

\*\*\*(P<0.005).

#### E. Summary

Overall performance was greater for 4-week-weaned pigs, the HD diet and ad libitum feeding than for 3-week-weaned pigs, the ND diet and restricted feeding, respectively.

The 3-week-weaned pigs had a greater improvement in performance when fed the HD diet compared to the ND diet than did pigs weaned at 4 weeks. Restricting feed intake reduced performance more for 3-week-weaned pigs than for 4-week-weaned pigs. Restricting intake significantly improved gain to feed ratios for 4-week-weaned pigs and the HD diet.

Weeks post-weaning had a significant effect on performance. The gain to feed ratio of the HD diet increased more rapidly than the gain to feed ratio of the ND diet. The feed intake of pigs fed ad libitum was less for pigs fed the HD diet than for those fed the ND diet. Restricting feed iptake reduced growth rate, but improved gain to feed ratio for both diets at both ages. Overall performance was better for pigs fed the HD diet.

The scouring data presented indicates that volume of feed consumed is less important in predisposing piglets to post-weaning scours than is total nutrient intake. The 4-week-weaned pigs scoured more than the 3-week-weaned pigs and this appeared to be related to a higher relative level of nutrient intake. Pigs fed ad libitum a HD diet ate less

feed than those fed the ND diet, but due to the higher density had a slightly higher intake of DE and DCP than those on the ND diet. The pigs fed the HD diet suffered a greater incidence and severity of scouring than pigs fed the ND diet. When both diets were restricted to the same estimated level of DE and DCP per kg of pig (based on table values) the HD diet still produced a higher level of scouring in the pigs even though the volume of feed consumed was much less than that of the ND diet. Calculation of actual DE and DCP intake based on the digestibility data indicates that higher nutrient intake is related to the . incidence and severity of scouring in weaned pigs. It is possible that the greater scouring observed in pigs fed the HD diet or fed ad libitum was due to the increased availability of nutrients in the intestine for bacterial growth.

## IV. EXPERIMENT III: EFFECT OF AGE, DIET AND FEED INTAKE ON APPARENT DIGESTEBILITY

A. Objective

The objective was to determine the effects of weaning age, nutrient density of the diet and level of feed and nutrient intake on the apparent digestibility of energy, protein and ether extract.

#### B. Materials and Methods

#### Animals and Diets

The diets, animal management and statistical treatment were as described in Experiment II. In addition, simple correlations between pens were generated to determine the effects of weekly scour severity and incidence upon nutrient digestibility. The interaction effects of the digestibility of each nutrient upon the others was also determined by simple correlations.

#### Digestion Trial

Apparent digestibility values for crude protein, gross energy and ether extract were determined using the chromic oxide procedure (0.5% inclusion level). Feces were collected from each pen during 3 separate collection periods. These post-weaning collection periods were: Week 1 - days 5, 6, 7; Week 2 - days 12, 13, 14; and Week 3 - days 19, 20, 21. On

each collection day feces voided over a 4 hour period after the morning feeding were-collected. Only fresh, intact and uncontaminated feces were collected. To make good collections possible, the pens were thoroughly cleaned after the waste feed was swept-up and before any feces were collected. Fecal samples were pooled by pen and stored at 5 C during the 3 day collection period.

#### Laboratory Analyses

At the end of each collection period, the feces were dried in a forced-air oven at 60 C for 72 hours. Both feed and feces were ground in a laboratory mill and representative samples were used for the following determinations: a) chromic oxide was determined as described by Czarnocki et al. (1961) with the modifications of Penton and Penton (1979); b) gross energy was determined in a Parr Oxygen Bomb Calorimeter (Parr Instrument Co., Moline, Illinois); c) Kjeldahl crude protein (N x 6.25) determinations were as described in AOAC (1975); d) ether extract was determined by extracting with anhydrous diethyl ether for 6 hours. The apparent digestibility values were calculated using the formula described by Lloyd et al. (1978).

#### C. Results and Discussion

Main Effects

The mean apparent digestibility coefficients for energy, protein and ether extract, subdivided by main effect, appear in Table 27. Neither age at weaning nor sex had any effect upon the digestibility coefficients measured. This agrees with the findings of Leibbrandt et al. (1975a). There was no effect of diet upon the digestibility of energy, however, the HD diet had significantly greater digestibility of protein (P<0.05) and of ether extract  $\sim$ (P<0.001). The greater digestibility of protein for the HD diet is likely due to the replacement of grain with soybean meal, since soybean meal protein is relatively more digestible for the young pig than cereal protein (Lucas and Lodge 1961). The difference in digestibility of ether extract is partly a reflection of the high level (10%) of soybean oil used in the HD diet. Soybean oil is known to be more digestible than tallow for growing pigs (Braude and Newport 1973). With a low level of added fat, a high. percentage of the fecal fat will be from endogenous fat excretion thus giving a low digestibility value. Also a high percentage of the fat in the ND diet comes from the cereals which have a poor ether extract digestibility (Lowery et al. 1962; Frobish et al. 1970; Leibbrandt et al. 1975a). That these differences in ether extract digestibility were

· 71

	Energy	Protein	Ether Extract
Weaning 'Age:		g	
3 Week	79.6	77.3	61.2
4 Week	80.6	78.7	64.6
Significance	NS	NS	NS
<u>Diet</u> :	· · ·	•	
ND	80.0	77.0	54.6
HD	-90-3	79.1	-71.3
Significance	NS	ts~ <sup>a</sup> t. ★	***
Intake Level:			、
Ad Libitum	79.4	77.3	59.7
Restricted	81.0	78,.7	66.]
Significance	*	ŃŚ	*
<u>Sex</u> :			
Female	80.3	78.1	64.0
Male	80.1	78.0	61.8
Significance	NS	NS	NS
Standard Error	.539	.623	1.693

# TABLE 27: MEAN DIGESTIBILITY (%) OF ENERGY, PROTEIN AND ETHER EXTRACT BY MAIN EFFECT

``

\*(P<0.05)

\*\*\*(P<0.005).

accurately taken into account during diet formulation is evidenced by the fact that there was no difference in the digestibility of energy between the 2 diets.

Restricting feed intake increased the digestibility of energy by 1.6% (P<0.05), of ether extract by 6.4% (P<0.05) and of protein by 1.4% (NS). An increase in digestibility due to restricting intake has been observed in growing swine (ARC 1967).-Restricting intake by 15% in growing pigs generally results in an increase in digestibility of 7 to 10% for energy. To the best of the author's knowledge, no comparisons have appeared in the literature for digestibility on ad libitum versus restricted feeding of normal diets for early-weaned pigs. De Goey and Ewan (1975) fed 3-week-weaned pigs at 2, 3, 4 or 5% of body weight on diets formulated to twice NAS-NRC (1968) requirements and found no significant effect on digestibility of nitrogen or energy. This cannot be considered restricted feeding due to the high nutrient level of the diet.

Week post-weaning had a significant effect on the digestibility of energy, protein and ether extract as shown in Table 28. The digestibility of energy increased significantly from week 1 to week 2 (P<0.05) and from week 2 to week 3 (P<0.05). The digestibility of both protein and ether extract increased significantly from week 1 to week 2 (P<0.001) but not from week 2 to week 3.

The digestibility coefficients presented are in agreement with the results of many workers who have found



similar digestibility values over these age periods (Leibbrandt et al. 1970; Lloyd et al. 1957; Lloyd and Crampton 1958: Blair 1961; Combs et al. 1963; Bayley and Carlson 1970). However, all the cited authors conducted their digestibility trials during the first week of their experiment and again at the end and assumed a linear increase in digestibility during this period. The data presented here would indicate that a very rapid change occurs in the digestive tract during the first 2 weeks after weaning with much less change occurring thereafter. Even in digestibility of energy where the difference was significant (P<0.05) between week 2 and week 3 this change is only 2.6% compared to 4.3% from week 1 to week 2.

Interaction of Weaning Age and Diet

Table 29 shows the interaction effect of weaning age and diet on digestibility. There was no difference in the digestibility of energy of the 2 diets at either 3 or 4 weeks of age. This indicates that for the overall experimental period, 3-week-weaned pigs digested the energy from each diet as well as the 4-week-weaned pigs. This shows

that the growth advantage achieved on the HD diet, as ' discussed previously, was not due to increased digestibility but entirely due to increased intake of feed. The HD diet had a slightly higher value for digestibility of protein than the ND diet at both 3 (P<0.05) and 4 weeks of age. Both diets had a higher digestibility of protein when the pigs

·		÷	•••	••	•
Weaning Age:	3. W	eek	'4 k		
Diet:	ND	HD	ND	HD	SE
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%):			•		
Energy	79.5 <sup>a</sup>	80.0 <sup>a</sup>	80.6 <sup>a</sup>	80.7 <sup>a</sup>	.763
- Crude Protein	76.0 <sup>a</sup>	78.6 <sup>b</sup>	78.0 <sup>ab</sup>	79.5 <sup>b</sup>	.882
Ether Extract	51.6 <sup>a</sup>	70.8 <sup>b</sup>	57.5 <sup>a</sup>	71.8 <sup>b</sup>	2.394

TABLE 29: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE AND DIET ON DIGESTIBILITY

¢

76

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 10.05).

were weaned at 4 weeks but this was not significant.

The digestibility of ether extract was significantly higher (P<0.001) for the HD diet than for the ND diet for both weaning ages. There was no significant difference in the digestibility of ether extract for either diet for 3-week-weaned versus 4-week-weaned pigs. This has also been noted by Leibbrandt et al. (1975a).

# Interaction of Diet and Level of Intake

There was no interaction effect of diet and level of intake on energy or protein digestibility as shown in Table 30. There was a higher level of digestibility of both energy and protein for the HD diet at both feeding levels. The difference was approaching significance for protein (P<0.10). The diets fed at a restricted level of intake had a higher level of digestibility for energy, protein and ether extract on both the ND and the HD diets. However, only for the ether extract from the ND diet was the difference significant (P<0.05).

# Interaction of Weaning Age and Level of Intake

Restricting the level of intake also increased digestibility when compared between 3- and 4-week weaned pigs (Table 31). Although De Goey and Ewan (1975) restricted feed volume to young pigs and found no difference in digestibility, the nutrient level of the diet was so high that there was no effective restriction of nutrient intake. TABLE 30: EFFECT OF DIET AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON DIGESTIBILITY

78

Diet	N	D	Н		
Intake Level:	Ad Libitum	Restricted	Ad Libitum	Restricted	SE
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%)	:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		······································	
Energy	79.3 <sup>a</sup>	80.8 <sup>a</sup>	79.5 <sup>a</sup>	81.2 <sup>a</sup>	.763
Crude Protein	76.4 <sup>a</sup>	77.6 <sup>a</sup>	78.3 <sup>a</sup>	79.8 <sup>a</sup>	.882
Ether Extract	50.0 <sup>a</sup>	59.1 <sup>b</sup>	69.5 <sup>C</sup>	73.1 <sup>c</sup>	

٩

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P>0.05).

TABLE 31: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE AND LEVEL OF INTAKE ON DIGESTIBILITY

79

Weaning Age:	3 W	eek	/ 4 W	L ,	
Intake Level:	Ad Libitum	Restricted	Ad Libitum	Restricted	SE
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%)					¥=
Energy	79.1 <sup>a</sup>	80.4 <sup>a</sup>	79.7 <sup>a</sup>	81.6 <sup>b</sup>	.763
Crude Protein	77.7 <sup>a</sup>	76.9 <sup>a</sup>	76.9 <sup>a</sup>	60.5 <sup>b</sup>	.882
Ether Extract	56.4 <sup>a</sup>	66.0 <sup>b</sup>	63.1 <sup>ab</sup>	66.2 <sup>b</sup>	2.394

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

Highest digestibility coefficients were obtained with 4-week-weaned pigs fed at a restricted level. Restricted feeding did not increase the digestibility coefficients for energy or protein for 3-week-weaned pigs, but did for 4-week-weaned pigs. For ether extract the reverse was true. For pigs weaned at 4 weeks of age, restricted feeding did increase the digestibility of energy and protein but not of ether extract. The 4-week-weaned pigs generally had a slightly higher digestibility than 3-week-weaned pigs fed at the same level.

Interaction of Weaning Age and Week Post-veaning

Table 32 shows the interaction effects of weaning age and week post-weaning on nutrient digestibility. The energy digestibility increased significantly between week 1 and week 3 for both 3- and 4-week-weaned pigs. The 4-week-weaned pigs increased their capacity to digest feed energy, protein and ether extract more rapidly than did the 3-week-weaned pigs. The 3-week-weaned pigs increased their energy digestibility only slightly from week 1 to week 2 (1.6%) and considerably from week 2 to week 3 (4.4%), while the 4-week-weaned pigs increased their energy digestibility 7% from week 1 to week 2 and only 0.5% from week 2 to week 3. This could be expected since the digestive capability of a pig is developing rapidly at this stage. Therefore, an older pig (4 versus 3 weeks old) should be able to adapt to a change in diet more rapidly. However, it should be noted.

) :

	11	Weeks	Weeks Post-weaning		
	Weaning Age	1 2		3	SE
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%):				• • • • • • • • • • • •	
Energy:	3	77.2 <sup>a</sup>	78.8 <sup>a</sup>	83.2 <sup>b</sup>	070
•	4	75.8 <sup>a</sup>	82.8 <sup>b</sup>	83.3 <sup>b</sup>	.872
Significance	C 1	NS	**	NS	
1			•		
Crude Protein:	3	`72.0 <sup>a</sup>	78.5 <sup>b</sup>	81.4 <sup>C</sup>	
	4	71.8 <sup>a</sup>	83.8 <sup>b</sup>	80.6 <sup>C</sup>	1.015
, Significance	,	NS	**	NS	•
Ether Extract:	3	51.9 <sup>a</sup>	62.9 <sup>b</sup>	68.8 <sup>b</sup>	
	4	49.2 <sup>a</sup>	74.2 <sup>b</sup>	70.5 <sup>b</sup>	2.788
Significance		NS	<ul> <li>************************************</li></ul>	NS	

TABLE 32: EFFECT OF WEANING AGE AND WEEK POST-WEANING ON DIGESTIBILITY

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

\*(P<0.05)

\*\*(P<0.01)

8]

that the energy, protein and ether extract digestibilities were not different for both weaning age groups 3 weeks post-weaning. At this stage the 3-week-weaned pigs were 5 weeks old and the 4-week-weaned pigs were 7 weeks old. When the 4-week-weaned pigs were 6 weeks old (2 weeks post-weaning) their energy and protein digestibilities were not different from the 3-week-weaned pigs at 6 weeks old (3 weeks post-weaning). The digestibility of ether extract was higher at 6 weeks of age for 4-week-weaned pigs (74.2%) than for 3-week-weaned pigs (68.8%), but this difference was not significant.

This data would indicate that at about 6 weeks of age the pigs' digestive systems were equally capable of digesting the nutrients in the tations regardless of whether the pig was weaped at for 4 weeks of age and providing that the pig has had the take to adapt to the diet.

The effect **at the** for adaptation on digestibility can be seen by comparing all pigs at 5 weeks of age. In every case the 3-week-weaned pigs had higher digestibilities at 5 weeks old (2 weeks post-weaning) than the 4-week-weaned pigs at 5 weeks old (1 week post-weaning). The development of the digestive enzyme system is obviously not entirely passive at

this age, but can be stimulated by a change in diet. The above observations are confirmed by work on digestive enzymes by Hartman et al. (1961) who observed that levels of most enzymes reach a maxima between 6 and 7 weeks of age. They also observed that digestive enzyme development

appears to be entirely passive until about 3 weeks of age since weaning prior to this had no effect on enzyme, levels or activity. Blair (1961) also found that at 6 to 7 weeks of age there was little difference in energy digestibility regardless of the age at weaning.

83

# Interaction of Diet and Week Post-Veaning

The digestibility of energy, protein and ether extract of both diets increased from week 1 to week 2 to week 3 as shown in Table 33: Increasing digestibility with increasing age has been shown by Lloyd et al. (1957), Combs et al. (1963), Frobish et al. (1970) and Leibbrandt et al. (1975b). All second week values were significantly greater than those observed in the first week of the digestion trial (P<0.05). It can be concluded from the data presented in Table 33 that a higher level of adaptation to the diets occurs between week 1 and week 2 than between week 2 and week 3. The only significant difference between week 2 and week 3 was for the digestibility of energy on the HD diet. This difference is likely due to the fact that 22.5% of the kcals in the HD diet are derived from added fat while only 7.3% of the kcals in the ND diet are derived from added fat. By week 2 digestibility of ether extract on the ND diet had reached a maximum, however, for the HD diet ether extract. digestibility increased by 6.2% from week 2 to week 3. The difference in digestibility of energy for the HD diet between week 2 and week 3 was, therefore, a result of the

TABLE 33: EFFECT OF DIET AND WEEK POST-WEANING ON DIGESTIBILITY

...

ń

84

3.

1 1 1 A 14

		Weeks	Post-wear	ning		
	Diet	1	2	3	\$£	•
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%):	<b>X</b>	***				*
• Energy:	ND	76.9 <sup>a</sup>	80.9 <sup>b</sup>	82.3 <sup>b</sup>	9	
	HD	76.1 <sup>a</sup>	80.7 <sup>b</sup>	84.2 <sup>c</sup>	.872	1994 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.
° Significance		NS	NS	NS		
Crude Protein:	ND	71.2 <sup>8</sup>	80.4 <sup>b</sup>	79.4 <sup>b</sup>		•
	HD	72.5 <sup>a</sup>	82.0 <sup>b</sup>	82.6 <sup>b</sup>	• 1.015	
Significance	•	NS	NS	NS		3
	3 4 Jan		• <b>#</b>			
Ether Extract:	ND	, 41.2 <sup>a</sup>	63.3 <sup>b</sup>	59.2 <sup>b</sup>	0.700	
	HD	60.0 <sup>a</sup>	73.8 <sup>b</sup>	80.0 <sup>b</sup>	2.788	
Significance		**	*	*	n. 3	

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

. .

(P<0.05)

9.00

125

.

\*(P <0.01)

greater ether extract digestibility. Within each week the HD diet had, a significantly greater digestibility of ether extract due to the higher level of fat inclusion as

discussed earlier.

There was no difference in digestibility of the 2 diets within weeks for energy and protein. Protein digestibility, however, was consistently higher for the HD diet, leading to the overall significant difference mentioned earlier.

Interaction of Level of Intake and Week Post-weaning

The interaction effects of level of intake and week post-weaning are shown in Table 34. Restricted fed pigs had higher digestibilities every week than did the ad libitum fed pigs, but the differences were not significant. Digestibility coefficients of the ad libitum fed pigs. increased each week. These increases in digestibility were significant (P<0.05) for energy and protein, but not for ether extract between week 2 and week 3. The digestibility of energy, crude protein and ether extract for the" restricted fed pigs also increased significantly from week 1 to week 2. In week 1 and week 2 the restricted fed pigs had higher digestibility values than the ad libitum fed pigs. In week 3, however, the differences were very small. The digestibility values in week 2 for the restricted fed pigs were nearly identical to the values obtained in week 3. These data would suggest that for pigs fed at a restricted level a limit to their ability to digest energy, protein and

# TABLE 34: /EFFECT OF LEVEL OF INTAKE AND WEEK. POST-WEANING ON DIGESTIBILITY

86

	Intake Level	Weeks Post-Weaning			
		^ ۲	2 · ·	- <b>3</b> , , ,	SE
Digestibility <sup>1</sup> (%)					
Energy:	Ad Libitum	75.5 <sup>a</sup>	`79.3 <sup>b</sup>	83.2 <sup>C</sup>	<b>~~~</b>
	Restricted	77.5 <sup>a</sup>	82.3 <sup>b</sup>	83.3 <sup>b</sup>	.872
Significance		NS	*	NS	
Crude Protein:	Ad Libitum	70.9 <sup>a</sup>	79.1 <sup>b</sup>	81.9 <sup>c</sup>	
	Restricted	72.8 <sup>a</sup>	80.2 <sup>b</sup>	83.2 <sup>C</sup>	1.015
Significance		NS	NS	°NS∤	
<u>Ether Extract</u> :	Ad Libitum	46.7 <sup>a</sup>	63.5 <sup>b</sup>	66.9 <sup>b</sup>	•
	Restricted	54.5 <sup>a</sup> -	71.5 <sup>b</sup>	72.3 <sup>b</sup>	2.788
Signi <sup>°</sup> ficance		NS	NS	NS	

<sup>1</sup>Means within rows with the same superscript are not significantly different (P>0.05).

(P<0.05).

a E

ether extract was reached in the second week of the trial. The implications are that with ad libitum feeding more nutrients are available in the digestive tract for bacterial growth than with restricted feeding and that with restricted feeding the pig is required to digest feed to its maximum ability thus reducing the likelihood of bacterial diarrhea. Palmer and Hulland (1965) restricted the feed intake of weaned pigs to 50% of ad libitum intake and found a significant reduction in total and percent hemolytic <u>E. coli</u> and reduced number of pig days of diarrhea from 14 for the ad libitum fed group to 10 for the restricted fed group.

87

#### Correlation of Scouring to Digestibility

The weekly digestibility measurements for each pen were correlated with the weekly incidence and severity of scours. The correlations for week 1 are shown in Table 35. There was a significant negative correlation between the digestibility of energy and protein and scour severity and incidence. Scour severity was more highly correlated with these digestibility coefficients than scour incidence indicating that severity may be a better measure of scouring than incidence. The significant negative correlation for week 1 indicates that a low level of digestibility is significantly related to a high level of scouring. Scouring pigs have been shown to have a 5 to 7% lower digestibility than normal pigs for energy and protein (Lloyd et al. 1957). However in this experiment only visually normal, intact feces were collected

8 Inci dence - 333 - 275 Scour .964 TABLE 35: CORRELATION OF DIGESTIBILITY AND SCOURING - WEEK Scour Severity -.296 - 394 .964 -.467 q Digestible Ether Extract (%) Digestible Protein (%) Digestible Energy (%) Scour Incidence Scour Severity .05 for for 1 ~ ₫¥ ثم \*\*

for the digestibility determinations. In this case the correlations indicate that scouring was likely a result of poor digestibility and not that the poor digestibility was a result **of** scouring. Arambawela et al. (1975) and Aumaitre (1967) observed that a lower digestibility may be associated with a higher incidence of scouring. In week 2 and week 3 the scouring was less influenced by digestibility, since digestibility values were much higher and the scouring was lower than in week 1. Scouring after the first week was likely related more to nutrient intake, as described in Experiments I and II, than to digestibility.

#### D. Summary

There was no difference in digestibility between 3- and 4-week-weaned pigs for energy, protein or ether extract. The HD diet had a significantly greater digestibility for protein and ether extract but was not different from the ND diet in digestibility of energy. Restricting feed intake significantly increased the digestibility of ration nutrients. There was no difference between diets in response to restriction but the 4-week-weaned pigs increased their digestibility when feed intake was restricted while the 3-week-weaned pigs did not. Digestibility of all nutrients increased significantly from week 1 to week 3. The greatest improvement occurred for ether extract. Pigs had similar digestibilities at the same chronological age regardless of the age at weaning. By week 3 there was no difference in digestibility between ad libitum and restricted feeding. Poor digestibility in the first week post-weaning probably predisposes piglets to scouring.

#### V. GENERAL SUMMARY

The experiments presented herein have examined the effects of weaning age, diet complexity, nutrient density of the diet, nutrient intake, volume of feed consumed and digestibility of the starter diet upon the incidence and severity of scours. In general the incidence and severity of post-weaning scours can be reduced by restricting post-weaning feed intake. The total nutrient intake is more important in predisposing pigs to scours than is volume of feed consumed. A simple diet produces less scouring than a semi-complex diet and a normal density diet produces less scouring than a high density diet. Greater performance, however, was achieved during the post-weaning period by feeding a semi-complex or high density diet, but there was no difference in subsequent performance to 90 kg liveweight. Pigs weaned at 4 weeks of age tended to be more susceptible to scours than did pigs weaned at 3 weeks of age when they were treated similarly, due to a greater relative nutrient intake. The poor digestibility that occurred when pigs were first weaned onto a solid diet, at a stage when the digestive enzyme complement was not fully developed, most probably facilitated the onset of scouring. Support for the hypothesis that digestive enzyme insufficiency is likely responsible for scouring in early-weaned pigs is provided by these experiments.

REFEREN(

AGRICULTURAL RESEARCH COUNCIL. 19 requirements of farm livestod England.

AHERNE, F.X. 1977. Conventional ( Proc. Alberta Pork.Semi ARAMBAWELA, W.J., NIELSEN, B.O. 1975. Effect of replaci at two different levels of for health of early weaned pigs. / 2:281-288.

ARMSTRONG, W.D. and CLINE, T.R. dietary nutrient levels on the colibacillary diarrhea in pion studies. J. Anim. Sci. 42:59 ARMSTRONG, W.D. and CLINE, T.R. nutrient levels and environme incidence of colibacillary d fistulation and titration stu 45:1042-1050.

AUMAITRE, A. 1967. Futterwert voi getreidearten in futterratio abgesetzte ferhel. Z. Tierph Futterwittelką. 23:41-43, as (1975).

#### REFERENCES

NCIL. 1967. The nutrient livestock. No. 3 Pigs. ARC, London,

92

tional weaning systems for pigs. min pp. 46-70.

replacing barley with tapioca meal ls of feeding on the growth and d pigs. Livest. Prod. Sci.

, T.R. 1976. Effects of various ls on the incidence of a in pigs: intestinal ligation . 42:592-598.

, T.R. 1977. Effects of various nvironmental temperatures on the llary diarrhea in pigs: intestinal tion studies. J. Anim. Sci.

wert von tapioca und verschiedenen errationen fur fruhzeitig Tierphysiol. Tierernahr.

-43, as cited by ARAMBAWELA et al.

AUMAITRE, A. 1972, Development of enzyme activity in the digestive tract of the suckling pig: mutritional

significance and implications for weaning. World Rev. Anim. Prod. 8:55-68.

ASSOCIATION OF OFFICIAL AGRICULTURAL CHEMISTS. 1975.

Official methods of analysis, 11th ed. AOAC, Washington, D.C.

BAYLEY, H.S. and CARLSON, W.E. 1970. Comparisons of simple and complex diets for baby pigs: effect of form of feed and of glucose addition. J. Anim. Sci. 30: 394-401.
BLAIR, R. 1961. The early weaning of pigs. VII. The effect of level and source of protein in the diet of pigs weaned at 10 lb liveweight on subsequent performance and carcass quality. J. Agric. Sci. 57:373-380.

BRAUDE, R. and NEWPORT, M.J. 1973. Artificial rearing of pigs. 4. The replacement of butterfat in a whole milk diet by either beef tallow, coconut oil or soya-bean oil. Br. J. Nutr. 29:447-455.

CAMPBELL, R.G., TAVERNER, M.R. and MULLANEY, P.D. 1975. The effect of dietary concentrations of digestible energy on the performance and carcass characteristics of

early-weaned pigs. Anim. Prod. 21:285-294.

CATRON, D.V., BAKER, R.O. and HARTMAN, P.A. 1957. Enzymes in baby pig nutrition. Proc. 9th Research Conf. Amer. Meat Institute. pp. 23-47. COLE, D.J.A., DUCKWORTH, J.E. and HOLMES, W. 1967. Factors affecting voluntary feed intake in pigs. I. The effect of the digestible energy content of the diet. Anim.

Prod. 9:141-148.

COMBS, G.E., OSEGUEDA, F.L., WALLACE, H.D. and AMMERMAN, C.B. 1963. Digestibility of rations containing different fources of supplementary protein by young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 22: 396-398.

CZARNOCKI, J., SIBBALD, I.R. and EVANS, E.V. 1961. The determination of chromic oxide in feed and excreta by acid digestion and spectrophotometry. J. Anim. Sci. 41:167-179.

DANIELSEN, V., HOLNGARD, P., LUNO, S. and PETERSEN, P.K. 1975. Produktionssystemer i svineholdet 19-27 Landbrugets Informationskontor, Tune, Denmark, as cited by NIELSEN (1976).

DE GOEY, L.W. and EWAN, R.C. 1975. Effect of level of intake and diet dilution on energy metabolism in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 40:1045-1057.

BLSLEY, F.W.J. 1963. Studies in the growth and development in the young pig. II. A comparison of the performance to 200 lb of pigs reared along different growth curves to 56 days of age. J. Agric. Sci. 61:243-251. ENGLISH, P.R., DELIGEORGIS, S.G., DAVIDSON, F.M., DIAS, M.F.M., SMITH, W.J. and FOWLER, V.R. 1978. Evaluation of alternative diets and feeding systems for early weaned piglets. Anim. Prod. 26:398 (abstr).

9.5

- FENTON, T. and FENTON, M. 1979. An improved procedure for the determination of chromic oxide in feed and feces. Can. J. Anim. Sci. (In Press).
- FROBISH, L.T., HAYS, V.W., SPEER, V.C. and EWAN, R.C. 1970. Effect of fat scource and level on utilization of fat by young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 29:320-324.
- GOODWIN, R.F.W. 1957. Some diseases of suckling pigs. Wet. Wec. 69:1290-1296.
- HARTMAN, P.A., HAYS, V.W., BAKER, B.O., NEAGLE, L. H. and CATRON, D.V. 1961. Digestive enzyme development in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 20:114-123.
- JENNINGS, A.R. 1959, Gastro-enteritis in the pig. Vet. Rec. 71:766-771.
  - KENWORTHY, R. and ALLEN, W.D. 1966. The significance of <u>Escherichia coli</u> to the young pig. J. Comp. Path. Therap. 76:31-36.
  - KENWOETHY, R. and CRABB, W.E. 1963. The intestinal flora of young pigs with reference to early weaning, <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> and scours. J. Comp. Path. 73:215-228.
- KRUSE, P.B., NIELSEN, H.B., NIELSEN, N.C. and RIISING, H.J.
  - 1976. Meddelelse 87. Statens Husdyrbrugsforsog,
  - Copenhagen, as cifed by NIELSEN (1976).

LEECE, J.G. 1975. Rearing piglets artificially in a farm environment: a promise unfulfilled. J. Anim. Sci. 41:659-666.

96

LEIBBRANDT, V.D., EWAN, R4C., SPEER, V.C. and ZIMMERMAN,
D.R. 1970. Effect of age and calorie-protein ratio on performance of baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1024 (abstr).
LEIBBRANDT, V.D., EWAN, R.C., SPEER, V.C. and ZIMMERMAN,
D.R. 1975a. Effect of age and calorie:protein ratio on performance and body composition of baby pigs. J. Anim.
Sci. 40:1070-1076.

LEIBBRANDT, V.D., EWAN, R.C., SPEER, V.C. and ZIMMERMAN, D.R. 1975b. Effect of weaning and age at weaning on baby pig performance. J. Anin. Sci. 40:1077-1080.

LIKUSKI, H.J.A., BOWLAND, J.P. and BERG, R.T. 1961. Energy digestibility and progen retention by pigs and rats fed diets containing non-nutritive diluents and varying protein level. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 41:89-101. LLOYD, L.E., CRAMPTON, E.W. and MacKAY, V.G. 1957. The

digestibility of ration natrients by three vs. seven week old piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 16:383-388. LLOYD, L.E. and CRAMPTON, E.W. 1958. Replacement of skimmilk powder in the baby pig ration by a mixture of whey powder and meat meal. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 38:65-72. LLOYD, L.E., MacDONALD, B.E. and CRAMPTON, E.W. 1978.

Fundamentals of nutrition, 2nd ed. W.H. Freeman and 60.; San Francisco, Calif. LODGE, G.A., CUNDY, M.E., COOKE, R. and LEWIS, D. 1972. Influence of energy and protein concentration in the diet on the performance of growing pigs. 2. Differing nutrient density at a constant energy: protein ratio. Anim. Prod. 14:47-55.

LOWREY, R.W/, POND, W.G., LOOSLI, J.K. and MANER, J.H. 1962. Effect of dietary fat level on apparent nutrient digestibility by growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:746-750.

LUCAS, I.A.M., CALDER, A.F.C. and SMITH, H. 1959. The early weaning of pigs. VI. The effects of early weaning and of various growth curves before 50 lb liveweight upon subsequent performance and carcass quality. J Agric. Sci. 53:136-142.

LUCAS, I.A.M. and LODGE, G.A. 1961. The nutrition of the young pig: a review. Tech. Commun. No. 22. Commonwealth Bureau of Animal Nutrition, Rowett Institute, Bucksburn, Aberdeen, Scotland.

LYNCH, P.B. 1975. Weaner pig nutrition and management. Moorepark Pig Farming Conf. Pig Husbandry Dept., Agric. A Institute, Moorepark, Fermoy, Co. Cork.

MEADE, R.J., RUST, J.W., MILLER, K.P., HANKE, H.E., GRANT, B.S., VERMEDAHL, L.D., WASS, D.F. and HANSON, L.E. 1969. Effects of protein level sequence and kind of starter on rate and efficiency of gain of growing swine and on cargass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 29:303-319.

NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES - NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL. 1968. Nutrient requirements of swine, Publ. 1599.

Washington, D.C.

NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES - NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL. 1973. Nutriest requirements of swine. Publ. 1599.

Washington, D.C.

NIELSEN, H.E. 1964. Effects in bacon pigs of different levels of nutrition to 20 kg body weight. Anim. Prod. 6:301-308.

- NIELSEN, H.E. 1976. Nutrition of early weaned piglets and resulting carcass quality. Proc. 27 Ann. Mtg. E.A.A.P. (Zurich, 1976).
- O'GRADY, J.R. 1978. The response of pigs weaned at 5 weeks of age to digestible evergy and lysine concentrations in the diet. Anim. Prod. 26:287-291.
- O'GRADY, J.F. and BOWLAND, J.P. 1972. Response of early weaned pigs to diets of different digestible energy concentrations and the effects of cereal source and added molasses on performance. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52:87-96.

OKAI, D.B. 1974. Effects of diet complexity on feed intake and performance of piglets and effects of creep intake and composition on starter intake and baby pig performance. M.Sc. Thesis, The University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada. OKAI, D.B., AHERNE, F.X. and HARDIN, R.T. 1976. Effects of creep and starter composition on feed intake and performance of growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 56:573-586.

99

OWEN, J.B. and RIDGMAN, W.J. 1967. The effects of dietary energy content on the voluntary intake of pigs. Anim. Prod. 9:107-113.

OWEN, J.B. and RIDGMAN, W.J. 1968. Further studies of the effect of dietary energy content on the voluntary intake of pigs. Anim. Prod. 10:85-91.

PALMER, N.C. and HULLAND, T.J. 1965. Factors predisposing to the development of coliform gastro-enteritis in weaned 'pigs. Can. Vet. J. 6:310-316.

PORTER, J.W.G. and ROLLS, B.A. 1971. Some aspects of the

digestion of proteins. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 30:17-25. PORTER, P. 1976. Immunoglobin mechanisms in health and nutrition from birth to weaning. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 35:273-282.

RICHARDS, W.P.C. and FRAZER, C.H. 1961. Coliform enteritis of weaned pigs: a description of the disease and its association with hemolytic <u>Escherichia coli</u>. Cornell Vet. 51:245-257.

RIVERA, E.R., ARMSTRONG, W.D., CLAWSON, A.J. and LINNERUD, A.C. 1978. Effect of dietary oats and kaolin on performance and incidence of diarrhea of weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 46:1685-1693. RUCKEBUSCH, Y. and BUENO, L. 1976. The effect of feeding on

the motility of the stomach and small intestine in the pig. Br. J. Nutr. 35:397-405.

SCRIMSHAW, N.S. 1977. Effect of infection on nutrient requirements. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 30:1536-1541.

SMITH, H.W. and JONES, J.E.T. 1963. Observations on the alimentary tract and its bacterial flora in healthy and diseased pigs. J. Path. Bact. 86:387-412.

SMITH, H. and LUCAS, I.A.M. 1956. The early weaning of pigs. I. The effect upon growth of variations in the protein, fat, sucrose, antibiotic, vitamin and mineral contents of diets for pigs of 8 - 25 lb liveweight and a comparison of wet and dry feeding. J. Agric. Sci. 48:220-235.

SMITH, H. and LUCAS, I.A.M. 1957. The early weaning of pigs. II. The performance up to 56 days of age of pigs weaned at 8, 14 and 20 lb liveweight. J. Agric. Sci. 49:405-408.

SOKAL, R.R. and ROLF, F.J. 1969. Biometry. W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco, Calif.

STEEL, R.D.G. and TORRIE, J.H. 1960. Principles and procedures of statistics with special reference to the biological sciences. McGraw-Hill Book Co. Inc., New York.

STEVENS, A.J. 1963. Enteritis in pigs - a working

hypothesis. Br. Vet. J. 119:520-522.

THOMLINSON, J.R. 1969. Post-weaning enteritis and dysentery. Vet. Rec. 85:298-300.

WAHLSTROM, R.C., REINER, L.J. and LIBAL, G.W. 1977. Oats,

dehulled oats and hullless barley as ingredients in pig starter diets. J. Anim. Sci. 45:948-952.

WATTS, G. and MOSER, B.D. 1979. Oats for early-weaned pigs.

Nebraska Swine Report, University of Nebraska. pp. 5-6. ZIMMERMAN, D.R. 1972. Practical pig starters. Iowa State University: Mimeo, Rep. AS379c.